

Cost Savings Associated with Preventing Falls in Older Minnesotans

BY INNOVATIONS FOR AGING, LLC RESEARCH AND ANALYSIS BY SOLID RESEARCH GROUP, LLC



CONTENTS

Executive Summary	3
Fall Rates and Associated Costs	3
Fall Prevention and Improved Health Outcomes from Juniper-supported Fall Prevention Programs	3
Estimated Cost Savings Among Juniper Participants	5
A Matter of Balance (MOB)	
Other Juniper-Supported Fall Prevention Programs	6
Conclusion and Recommendations	
Key Facts	
Juniper Programs Deliver Results	
Introduction	
About Juniper	
Provider Partners Delivering Juniper Classes in Every County in Minnesota	9
Class Locations	
Methods	
Literature Review	
Cost-Savings Analysis	10
Results	
Literature Review and Summary	
The Risk of Falls and Fall Prevention	
The Cost of Falls	
Interventions to Reduce Fall Risk	
The Effectiveness of Matter Of Balance (MOB)	
The Effectiveness of Tai Ji Quan: Moving for Better Balance (TJQMBB)	
The Effectiveness of Stepping On	
The Effectiveness of Stay Active and Independent for Life (SAIL)	
Effectiveness of Higher Patient Activation	
Cost-Savings Analysis	
Estimating Direct Fall-Related Costs	
Indirect Costs	
Cost Savings of MOB	
Cost Savings of TJQMBB	
Cost Savings of Stepping On	
Cost Savings of SAIL	
Other Benefits	
Improved Health and Well-Being	
Improved Self-Efficacy	
Alignment with CMS' Star Rating Measures	
Discussion	
Recommendations	
Conclusion	
Appendix A. Additional Tables	
References	52

Innovations for Aging, LLC | 1265 Grey Fox Road, Suite 2 | Arden Hills, Minnesota 55112 | Phone: 651-917-4649 https://innovationsforaging.org/

Innovations for Aging, LLC (IFA) is a not-for-profit, limited liability corporation (LLC) and manages Juniper and its network partners. IFA is wholly owned by the Metropolitan Area Agency on Aging, Inc. (MAAA) and strives to meet the challenge of delivering better health outcomes through innovative programs that enable community-dwelling older adults to maintain their independence.

© Copyright 2023 Innovations for Aging. All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reproduced in any form by any electronic or mechanical means (including photocopying, recording, or information storage and retrieval) without permission in writing from Innovations for Aging.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

FALL RATES AND ASSOCIATED COSTS

There is extensive literature demonstrating that falls are common among older adults and that efforts to reduce falls and fall risk produce significant cost savings. Functional decline and social isolation, common in older adults and exacerbated by COVID-19, can increase the risk of falls and fall-related costs. In addition to the immediate costs that falls incur to treat fall-related injuries, falls can impose long-term costs by impeding mobility and cognitive function.

Estimates for the percentage of adults ages 65 and older who fall each year ranges from 24-49%, with an average of 35%;^{1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8} as many as 3.1-11% of falls result in a hospitalization^{5,9} and 14-18% result in an ED/OP physician visit.¹⁰

The direct costs associated with falling in this population varies by type of fall (e.g., injurious, noninjurious, fatal, non-fatal, overall, etc.), setting (e.g., community, while hospitalized, while in assisted living, etc.), and type of care provided (e.g., any medical attention, hospitalization, emergency department [ED], nursing home, outpatient/physician office, overall, etc.). In 2022 USD, estimates for the cost per fall ranged from \$1,670-\$32,426.^{1,5,11,12} Estimates for fall-related hospitalizations go as high as \$60,417 in 2022 USD.¹²

The indirect costs for falls are also substantial. Given that experiencing a fall significantly increases the chances of a subsequent fall,^{13,14,15} each fall increases the risk of future fall-related costs, especially if future falls are injurious or occur in specific care settings. Those who fall while in the hospital have longer lengths of stay and incur higher hospital costs.^{16,17,18} Further, falls are associated with an increased risk of a nursing home or long-term care placement after hospital discharge.^{19,20,21} This finding is notable given that the most recent estimates for the annual cost of long-term care in Minnesota range from \$45,600 for assisted living to \$132,448 for a nursing home.²² Falls among older adults are the leading cause of head injuries and hip fractures (in fact, 95% of hip fractures result from a fall), impeding mobility and cognitive function, leading to restrictions in daily activities.⁷

FALL PREVENTION AND IMPROVED HEALTH OUTCOMES FROM JUNIPER-SUPPORTED FALL PREVENTION PROGRAMS

Fall prevention programs can improve strength and balance, while reducing the fear of falling. Additionally, they can help maintain physical functioning and provide socialization, which further reduce fall risk and generally improve patient health and well-being.

Participant-reported data from Juniper-supported fall prevention programs illustrates the impact on fall prevention, patient activation, healthy behaviors, and mental and emotional well-being. The Juniper data set includes adults (ages 18+) who live in Minnesota and participated in an evidence-based fall prevention class from a Juniper network provider. This analysis uses data from January 2019 through January 2020. Participants of A Matter of Balance (MOB), Tai Ji Quan: Moving for Better Balance (TJQMBB), Stepping On (SO), and Stay Active and Independent for Life (SAIL) experienced absolute reductions in fall rates of 19.9%, 8.8%, 18.5%, and 6.4%, respectively (see Table 1).

Class	% Who Fell Before Class	% Who Fell After Class	Difference
A Matter of Balance	37.1%	17.1%	19.9%
Tai Ji Quan Moving For Better Balance	23.5%	14.7%	8.8%
Stepping On	34.7%	16.2%	18.5%
Stay Active and Independent for Life	27.0%	20.6%	6.4%

Table 1. Fall reduction rates after participation in Juniper-supported fall prevention programs.

Additionally, participants consistently reported improvements in their fear of falling, their level of physical activity, satisfaction with life, stress level, ability to perform daily activities, and general wellbeing. As shown in Figures 1 and 2, participants' responses regarding each fall prevention program's impact were overwhelmingly positive.



Figure 1. Juniper-supported fall prevention programs' impact on falls-efficacy.





Figure 2. Juniper-supported falls prevention programs' impact on healthy behaviors.

"This program helped me..."

ESTIMATED COST SAVINGS AMONG JUNIPER PARTICIPANTS

The cost savings through avoided expenditures from reducing falls were evaluated using Juniper participant data by using fall incidence and estimates of fall-related healthcare costs. Depending on the inputs chosen, the aggregated savings across these programs range from several hundred thousand dollars to several million dollars.

A Matter of Balance (MOB)

A total of 978 participants in the MOB program during the study period provided self-reported data. Approximately 37% (*n*=239/645) reported falling three months before the pre-survey questionnaire, completed at the first session of the program (Time 1); at the last session (Time 2), 17% (*n*=81/473) indicated a fall, a reduction of 19.9 percentage points, and a relative risk rate of 0.46. The total number of falls was reduced from 408 to 111, a decrease of 297 falls. When the 111 falls reported at Time 2 are extrapolated to the number of anticipated falls for a sample size equal to that at Time 1, it would equal 151 falls, which would still have resulted in a reduction of 257 falls. When limiting the analysis to 418 participants who had falls data at both time points, the reduction in total falls was 134, with 28% of participants reporting fewer falls at Time 2 than at Time 1. Using these data and fall-related cost estimates calculated from previously published studies, the estimated cost savings for MOB range from \$223,780 to \$3,960,495. This methodology produces \$75-\$956 of savings per session attended and \$546-\$7,227 of savings per participant who completed the program (defined as attending at least 66% of total sessions) (see Table 2).

Table 2. MOB cost savings for Juniper participants.

		Class		Benefits (Cost Avoidance)				
Sample Size	Falls Avoided	Total # Sessions	Total Completers	Savings Per Fall Avoided	Total Savings	Savings Per Patient	Savings Per Completer	Savings Per Session Attended
645	297	4,143	548	\$13,335	\$3,960,495	\$6,140	\$7,227	\$956
645	257	4,143	548	\$13,335	\$3,427,095	\$5,313	\$6,254	\$827
645	257	4,143	548	\$1,670	\$429,190	\$665	\$783	\$104
418	134	2,983	410	\$13,335	\$1,786,890	\$4,275	\$4,358	\$599
418	134	2,983	410	1,670	\$223,780	\$535	\$546	\$75

Other Juniper-Supported Fall Prevention Programs

The same methods were applied to the other Juniper-supported fall prevention programs to obtain estimated total cost savings, savings per session attended, and savings per completer.

Table 3. Total cost savings, savings per completer, and savings per session attended for other Juniper-supported falls-prevention programs.

Program Name	Total Savings	Savings Per Session Attended	Savings Per Completer
Tai Ji Quan: Moving for Better Balance	\$70,140 - \$1,933,575	\$11 - \$212	\$249 - \$5,075
Stepping On	\$111,890 - \$2,200,275	\$74 - \$1,079	\$486 - \$7,359
Stay Active and Independent for Life	\$8,350 - \$213,360	\$3 - \$83	\$94 - \$2,425

These estimates include only direct costs associated with falls and ignore indirect cost savings that stem from the reduced likelihood of future falls, increased physical activity and mobility, reduced fear of falling, and the long-term effects of falls on physical and cognitive functioning. Further, greater patient activation is associated with less healthcare utilization and costs and a greater likelihood of making healthy choices and/or preventive health measures (e.g., getting check-ups and screenings, better diet, increased exercise, and avoiding smoking and/or drugs). In addition, each program addresses multiple components of the star-rating system created by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS), which adds value for health plans and health systems in value-based program arrangements.

CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Evidence from Juniper participants suggests that these fall prevention programs produce significant cost savings, even when conservative estimates are used. These results are consistent with previous research and economic studies that have consistently concluded that fall prevention results in healthcare cost savings for older adults. While evidence of the effectiveness of these programs is clear, they have rarely been widely scaled. Juniper is the nation's largest network of these kinds of evidence-based health promotion programs, and a health plan or other risk-bearing entity who maximizes this opportunity will likely be a leader in this field. Given the increased focus on fall-prevention and wellness programs from The Joint Commission, NCQA, and CMS, these programs may fill a significant need for care delivery systems and health plans alike. Additionally, self-reported data from Juniper course participants provides insights into patient perspectives and perceptions, and yields information unavailable in claims data. There is potentially significant value to be gained from Juniper fall-prevention programs and associated data.

KEY FACTS

- Over 25,000 Minnesotans have participated in Juniper programming since 2018
- More than half of participants are from rural areas
- Four evidence-based fall prevention classes offered: A Matter of Balance, Staying Active and Independent for Life (SAIL), Stepping On, Tai Ji Quan
- There are 85 partner provider organizations across the state who help facilitate the programs

JUNIPER PROGRAMS DELIVER RESULTS



Participants in Juniper classes report up to 20% fewer falls



More than 90% of Juniper class participants report feeling less afraid of falling and more confident in increasing their physical activity



9 out of 10 Juniper class participants would recommend the class to friends and family



Over 90% of Juniper participants report the program helped them to prevent falls and continue performing their daily activities



Participants report that Juniper programs helped them socialize more with others

Participants in Juniper classes report up to 20% fewer falls, with significant cost saving per participant*



* Data from January 2019 through January 2020, based on self-reported falls; assumes program completion, and using an estimate of cost-savings per fall avoided. Values represent the upper limit of a range of estimates produced by an internal analysis.

INTRODUCTION

Falls in older adults are a source of significant morbidity and healthcare-related costs. In addition to the significant costs associated with treating fall-related injuries, falls have been linked to decreased health outcomes over time, including long-term mobility and cognitive functioning decline. Many older adults limit their physical activity and social involvement out of a fear of falling, which can have psychological and emotional implications, especially for community-dwelling individuals. Physical activity and social interactions both decreased for this population during the COVID-19 pandemic, potentially exacerbating current trends in falls and fall-related injuries.

Evidence-based fall prevention programs were developed to reduce the likelihood of falling among older adults by increasing strength and balance, improving communication with healthcare providers, and raising awareness of an individual's physical environment. These strategies have been shown to successfully reduce fall risk and the fear of falling while increasing physical activity, self-efficacy, and patient activation. These programs can also help improve physical functioning more generally and reduce social isolation and physical inactivity, both of which were exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic. Additionally, steps to assess and reduce fall-risk are components of national reimbursement and quality initiatives, including from CMS. This paper summarizes the results of a literature review on falls and fall prevention programs and estimates direct cost avoidance using data from Juniper program participants in Minnesota.

The current version was updated in 2023 to include new literature since the original publication of this analysis. Additionally, monetary inputs pulled from literature to estimate cost-savings were updated to 2022 USD. Finally, given the timing of the update, it was also prudent to add information related to the impacts of COVID and to describe a recent claims analysis performed on Juniper's behalf.

ABOUT JUNIPER

The Juniper Programs are administered by Trellis,[®] a nonprofit organization that creates access to social care services to help older adults live healthy and connected lives in their communities. Trellis[®] is the federally designated area agency on aging for the Twin Cities metro area and awards Federal Older Americans Act funding to community-based organizations that deliver older adult services.

Juniper[®] is a program of Trellis and delivers evidence-based health promotion classes in partnership with a network of community-based healthcare organizations across Minnesota. Juniper classes effectively engage older individuals with chronic conditions or those at risk for falls, providing them with essential tools and knowledge to proactively manage their health.

These evidence-based classes not only build participants' capacity to make informed health decisions but also serve as a strong source of motivation and socialization, empowering them to take actionable steps towards improving their overall well-being. Classes are available to people across Minnesota with in-person, online and phone options.

Since 2018, over 25,000 Minnesotans have participated in Juniper programming, with more than half of those participants joining from rural areas of the state.



Provider Partners Delivering Juniper Classes in Every County in Minnesota

Juniper classes are offered through a network of community organizations, local healthcare organizations, class leaders, and funding partners. The best health outcomes come from an integration of clinical care and social care, and Juniper is at the forefront of this growing movement.

We are committed to building partnerships that allow us to provide services targeted to people who will benefit from them most. Our well-known partner providers imbed Juniper in local communities to better serve Minnesotans and create increased access to Juniper programs.

Class Locations



Dots reflect physical locations of classes offered in 2022

METHODS

LITERATURE REVIEW

This analysis focuses on the following fall prevention programs: A Matter of Balance (MOB), Tai Ji Quan: Moving for Better Balance (TJQMBB), Stepping On, and Stay Active and Independent for Life (SAIL).

The goal of the literature review was to gather information on the rate, outcomes, and cost of falls among older adults, and determine the impact the identified evidence-based fall prevention programs have on those variables.

This impact includes estimates that quantify the amount of risk reduction and/or cost avoidance associated with these fall prevention programs. The literature review included the names of the fall prevention programs listed above and more generic search terms such as "falls," "falling," "fall prevention," "fall reduction," "fall rate," "fall risk," "fear of falling," "costs of falls." No limitations were put on the date of publications, although preference was given to more recent studies. Reviews and meta-analyses were included, but, when possible, the relevant original articles in the reviews were used. After reviewing titles and abstracts, full-text articles were either omitted or abstracted. The search was not limited to studies based in the United States, although it was a criterion for deciding the study's relevance (and therefore, inclusion) in this summary. The search was originally performed in 2020 and updated in 2023.

COST-SAVINGS ANALYSIS

To estimate the cost savings associated with each fall prevention program, self-reported fall rates from Juniper's data set were used. The Juniper data set includes adults (ages 18+) who live in Minnesota and participated in an evidence-based fall prevention class from a Juniper network provider. This analysis includes Juniper data between January 2019 and January 2020. Participants completed pre- and post-survey questionnaires during the first and last sessions of each class, respectively. Thus, fall rates can be compared before and after program participation.

In addition to reporting falls over the past three months, participants rate their own general health, well-being, and fear of falling. They also provide feedback on the effectiveness of the program in promoting healthy behavior and choices related to falls, such as their comfort level in discussing falls with family and healthcare providers, increasing physical activity, managing stress, and socializing with others. Using the change in fall rates and estimated costs associated with fall-related healthcare utilization, several scenarios for each program were calculated to estimate the direct cost savings among program participants. These scenarios are calculated as total cost savings, per session attended, and per "completer" (someone who attends at least 66% of the total sessions).



RESULTS

LITERATURE REVIEW AND SUMMARY

Over 100 studies, publications, and public websites that contained information directly relevant to falls and fall prevention were identified. The findings of these sources are summarized here.

The Risk of Falls and Fall Prevention

From the information gathered, falls are common among older adults and they can have both immediate and long-lasting impacts of an individual's health. The National Council on Aging (NCOA) and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) state that **one in four older Americans fall each year**. The CDC goes on to claim that falling once doubles the chances of falling again;^{13,15} another study suggests fall risk more than triples after an initial fall.¹⁴

A 2018 study of 2011 Medicare Current Beneficiary Study (MCBS) data indicated that 24% of respondents self-reported falling in 2011; of those, 49% fell two or more times.² In their 2007 "Global Report on Falls Prevention in Older Age," The World Health Organization (WHO) reported 28-35% of individuals ages 65+ fall each year; for individuals ages 70+, the rate was 32-42%.⁷ They go on to claim that falls lead to 20-30% of all mild to severe injuries, and after a fall, individuals can experience a "post-fall syndrome" that can include "dependence, loss of autonomy, confusion, immobilization and depression."⁷

COVID-19, Physical Activity, Functional Decline/Frailty, and Social Isolation

During the height of the COVID-19 pandemic, activity levels dropped substantially in older populations, as reported by multiple studies.^{23,24} As such, reductions in physical activity and increases of sedentary lifestyles during this period resulted in decreased mobility²⁵ and increased depression and anxiety.²⁶ A 2023 review indicated that the **most frequent recommendation for improving mobility was to increase physical activity** to prevent "the occurrence of adverse results, such as falls, fractures, and functional decline."

Functional decline is a significant issue within the older adult population. It has been estimated that 16% of Medicare patients are frail.^{27,28} While that represents a relatively small portion of the entire population, the same data suggest that an additional 47.2% may be classified as "pre-frail," namely that they demonstrate some of the commonly cited frail characteristics.²⁷ This suggests that individuals who are currently mobile and able to participate in physical activities may exhibit one or more signs that their physical functioning may be in the early stages of decline. For these individuals, the risk of functional decline can have major implications if it is not addressed. Those with a reduced functional status have a higher risk of falls,²⁹ and once individuals become frail, fall prevalence may be five times that of non-frail patients.²⁸ Frail patients also have significantly higher hazards for cardiovascular events like AMI (HR = 1.95), stroke (HR = 1.71), and peripheral vascular disease (HR = 1.80),²⁷ and experience increased healthcare utilization³⁰ and costs.^{31,32} Community-dwelling older adults with a fear of falling are at an increased risk of becoming frail.³³ Additionally, physical frailty may be linked to cognitive decline,³⁴ which can also increase fall risk. Among community-dwelling adults considered to be at a high risk of falls, Li et al. reported that those with cognitive impairment were 2.6 times more likely to have a fall than those with healthy cognition.³⁵ For these reasons, it is critical to acknowledge and assess physical decline early and take steps to reduce or avoid declines in physical function in those who are currently fully functioning.

Fortunately, physical exercise can slow and may even be able to reduce frailty. Two separate reviews reported studies that reduced or reversed frailty in patients receiving physical activity interventions.^{36,37} Some of the reviewed studies also demonstrated increases in muscle mass, strength, and physical performance, as well as reductions in the number and fear of falls.^{36,37} This suggests that **in addition to immediate benefits of fall risk reduction, physical activity interventions may help slow functional decline and frailty,** potentially reducing the risk of major cardiac events, depression/ anxiety, and cognitive decline. The need for such interventions has never been greater, given the aging population and decreasing mobility. As one global review suggests, "functional loss will have a role in the burden of disease among older adults."³⁸

Most fall-prevention programs, including Juniper's, are provided in a social, group setting. Group activity programs help reduce social isolation and loneliness that were exacerbated by COVID. Studies have shown that persistent isolation and loneliness results in the release of stress hormones that cause long-term damage through increases in cardiovascular stress and inflammation. This increases the risk of heart disease and other chronic diseases, and changes gene expression in white blood cells resulting in a reduction in the ability to fight disease.³⁹ A national survey demonstrated how social interaction and exercise measurably reduces loneliness,⁴⁰ suggesting that regular group physical activities may help to combat the debilitating effects of social isolation and loneliness.



Health Equity, HEDIS, and Star Ratings

Social determinants and health disparities are now generally accepted to have significant impacts on patient outcomes, care utilization, and overall medical expenditures. It should be no surprise that disparities can impact the risk of falling.

A 2019 study of over 26,000 Medicare Advantage members reported that members with food insecurity had a 69% higher odds of a fall in the previous year.⁴¹ Additionally, at least one study has linked socioeconomic status (SES) to fall risk through the impacts SES has on health and functioning.⁴² Said another way, without the financial means to maintain good health, proper weight, and treat chronic conditions, patients increase their risk of falls. The fear of falling, which was noted above to decrease physical activity and social interaction, is predictive of future falls independent of balance,⁴³ and may differ by race/ethnicity."^{44,45,46} This suggests that interventions to reduce fall risk need to be sensitive to and relevant for a variety of populations, and involve multifaceted components to address barriers, including those related to social determinants.

Therefore, **fall prevention programs offer a unique avenue to address health equity in the older population**. This is particularly relevant given national initiatives to address these socially-based disparities. The Joint Commission has new standards for hospital accreditation that require facilities to screen patients for "health-related social needs" and provide information about services and resources that are available to them.^{47,48}

Similarly, NCQA has called health equity the "future of HEDIS"⁴⁹ and has announced the development of measures related to social needs screening and intervention, as well as for "social connection." Considering that managing fall risk is already a part of HEDIS,CAHPS^{50,51} and CMS's Star Ratings programs,⁵² programs that simultaneous reduce fall-risk and address social needs would provide additional benefit. CMS recently announced a Health Equity Index reward that will start measuring performance in 2024. And, such programs are needed, as CMS reported a drop in the average star rating for the measure "reducing the risk for falling" from 2022 to 2023.⁵³

Fall Rates

Observed fall rates are reported in a variety of ways (Table 4), including the percentage of individuals who fell and/or were injured,¹⁶ per time at risk,⁵⁴ and per 100,000 population.² A variety of research studies and economic analyses have reported fall rates and fall-related events to determine their calculations. Table 4 contains pre-and post-intervention fall rates used in each research study and economic analysis included in the literature review. Studies reporting **the percentage of individuals who fall per year typically report or assume values between 20-60%.**^{1,3,5,6,8,43,55,56} Within these studies, the percentage of individuals who fall and seek medical care is between 33.4–47%,¹⁶ of these, 3.1–4.7% require hospitalization.⁵ An economic study from the United Kingdom assumed 14.4–47.3% of individuals fall in a given year, depending on age.⁵⁷ Shumway-Cook et al. observed 27% of individuals fell over a 3-month period;⁵⁸ several studies by Li et al. found 31–51% of individuals fell over 3- to 6-month periods of time, with 17–19% experiencing injurious falls.^{4,59,60,61} Rikkonen (2023) reported 59.7% falling (mean age 76.6) or a rate of 804.0 per 1000 person years; 52.9% of these falls were at least "moderately" injurious and 13.3% required medical attention.⁵⁶

Reported fall rates presented as the number of events per time at risk or the average number of falls per person include, 6 to 13 per 100 person months,^{4,60} 2.83 per person year⁵⁷, and an average of 0.7 to 2.6 over a 6-month period.^{10,62,63}

Also reported are fall-related hospitalization rates, average time until the next fall (for individuals with a history of falls), and one-year emergency department (ED)readmission rates. While estimates vary by study, age, and subject characteristics, the take-away is that falls are common and frequent among older adults.

Study	Group	Event	Estimated / Reported Fall Rate
		Falls	31-42% per 3 months
Li (2005) ⁵⁹	Ages 70+	Injurious falls	17-19% per 3 months
LI (2003)**	Ages 70 .	Received medical attention for falls	12-13% per 3 months
	Ages 65+	Falls	28-35% per year
WHO (2007) ⁷	Ages 70+	Falls	32-42% per year
Shumway-Cook (2007) ⁵⁸	Ages 65+	Falls	27% per 3 months
Maukalataa		Falls	41-49% per year
Voukelatos (2007) ⁶	Ages 60+ (Australia)	Falls requiring medical treatment	40-47% of falls
7::latua (2000)64	Arres 70 + (Natherlands)	Falls	55% per 6 months
Zijlstra (2009) ⁶⁴	Ages 70+ (Netherlands)	More than 1 fall	34-37% per 6 months
Smith (2010)65	"Older" females	Falls	22.2% per 30 days
Smith (2010) ⁶⁵	"Older" females	Number of falls	0.35 per 30 days
Muu (2010)8	Ages 65-74	Falls	30% per year
Wu (2010) ⁸	Ages 75+	Falls	37.5% per year

Table 4. Observed or assumed (baseline) rates of falls and related events reported by studies or used in economic analyses.



Study	Group	Event	Estimated / Reported Fall Rate
	Ages 50-64	Falls	20% per year
Miller (2011)⁵		Falls	33% per year
	Ages 65+	Falls that result in hospital stay	3.1-4.7% of falls
Laing (2011) ³	Ages 65+	Self-reported falls	48% in previous 12 months
Li (2013)60	Ages 65+	Falls	41.2% per 3 months
C	"Oldow" formalise	Ider" females Falls Number of Falls	
Smith (2014) ⁶⁶	"Older" females	Number of Falls	0.34 per 30 days
Li (2014) ⁶¹	Ages 65+	Falls	51% per 3 months
	Ages 65+	Falls	30% per year
Carande-Kulis (2015) ¹	Ages 80+	Falls	50% per year
(2013)	Ages 65+	Seek medical care after a fall	33.4%
Spetz (2015) ⁶⁷	Hospitalized patients	Fall rate	0.67-4.37 per 1000 patient days (preintervention)
		Falls that result in an injury	10-30% of falls
Howland	Adults treated at the ED	1-year ED recidivism	18%
(2015) ⁶⁸	for injurious falls	Admitted to hospital	33%
		Falls	29-33% per 2 months
Chen (2015)69	Ages 60+	Ave Number of falls	0.42 per 2 months
Chen (2013)		% with 2+ falls	9% per 2 months
		Falls	8.7% of patients (median LOS = 11 days)
		Falls that result in an injury	25.7%
Basic (2015) ¹⁶	Hospitalized patients	Falls that result in serious injury (fracture)	1.9%
		Percent who fell	34% over 48 weeks
		Ave time to first fall	1.4 months
Isaranuwatchal	Ages 75-84	Fall rate	1.0-1.1 per 6 months
(2017) ⁶³	Ages 85-95	Fall rate	2.3-2.6 per 6 months
$(2019)^2$	Ages 65+	Fall rate	24% per year
-lorence (2018) ²		Fell again	49% per year
		Fall rate, 3-24 mths	2317 per 1000 pts
		Percent with a fall, 3-48 mths	47.2%
Hopewell (2018)	"Older people living in the community" (mean	Percent with fallrelated injuries, 3-48 mths	6% overall, 12.7% of those who fell
70	ages 62 to 85 yrs)	Falls requiring hospital admission, 3-36 mths	267 per 1000 pts
		Falls requiring medical attention, 12-24 mths	126 per 1000 pts

Study	Group	Event	Estimated / Reported Fall Rate	
	Ages 65-69	Fall rate	14.4% per year	
Franklin (2019) (UK Study) ⁵⁷	Ages 70-74	Fall rate	18.4% per year	
	Ages 75-89	Fall rate	47.3% per year	
	Ages 65+	Those with at least one fall	2.83 falls per person yea	
	Ages 65-69	Probability of longterm care after major fall	0	
	Ages 70-74	Probability of longterm care after major fall	0.086	
	Ages 75-89	Probability of longterm care after major fall	0.274	
Li (2019) ⁷¹	Ages 70+ who had fallen at least once in previous 12 months and clinician indicating they were a fall risk	Fall rate	72-73% per 6 months	
Liu-Ambrose (2019) ⁵⁴	Ages 70+ with a nonsyncopal fall in previous 12 months	Falls resulting in injury	70-73% of falls	
Mahoney (2020) ¹⁰	Ages 65+	Fall rate	0.7-1.2 per 6 months	
		Percent with a fall	59.7%	
Rikkonen	A	Fall rate	804 per 1000 pt yrs (546 individuals over 1716.4 person-yrs)	
(2023) ⁵⁶	Ages 75+	Percent of falls with at least "moderate" injury	52.9%	
		Percent of falls that required medical attention	13.3%	
Choi (2023) ⁵⁵	Age 70+	Percent with a fall	 2019: 19.8% 1 fall; 12.7% 2+ falls 2020: 17.7% 1 fall; 11.9% 2+ falls 2021: 19.2% 1 fall; 14.9% 2+ falls 2019-2021: 43.0% 0 falls; 23.1% 1 fall; 33.9% 2+ falls (59.5% of those with any fall) 	
		Recurrent falls	 68.5% of those with a fall in 2019 also had a fall in 2020-2021 11.7% had 2+ falls in each of 3 years 75.0% had 2+ falls in any one of three years 	
Garbin (2023)43	Aged 65+	Falls	32.7% over 1-year period	



Unsteadiness and low levels of activity are among the significant predictors of falls and/or fractures in older women.¹⁴ This unsteadiness may increase an individual's fear of falling, resulting in restricting their activity, further exacerbating their risk of falling.⁷ Among individuals who experience a fear of falling, 50-75% limit their social and/or physical activities as a result.^{3,13}

Evaluations of previous fall prevention programs and cost-effectiveness studies have consistently demonstrated that it is possible to significantly reduce fall risk^{1,5,8,54,,73} by as much as 40%, by reducing the fear of falling,⁷⁴⁻⁷⁶ and increasing physical activity.

The Cost of Falls

The evidence regarding the economic impact of falls in older adults is clear: falls and related injuries are **expensive to treat and have long-lasting impacts on healthcare utilization, future adverse events (including subsequent falls), and overall functioning and well-being.**

Both the NCOA and the CDC cite several statistics regarding falls, including that falls in older adults are the leading cause of head injuries and hip fractures; they result in more than 2.8 million ED visits, 800,000 hospitalizations, and 27,000 deaths per year.^{13,15} Both agencies consider the average cost for treating a fall as high as \$30,000 per fall. In 2015, private payers paid approximately \$12.0 billion for non-fatal falls.²

The evidence linking falls with higher healthcare costs has a lengthy history. Over 20 years ago, Rizzo et al. (1998) reported that an injurious fall was associated with additional hospital costs of \$11,042, nursing home costs of \$5,325, and total healthcare costs of \$19,440 per year in 1996 dollars.⁷⁷ Those values are significantly higher when converted to 2022 USD (Table 5). Roudsari et al. (2005) used medical claims data from 1998 to estimate that the average cost of a hospitalization for a fall-related injury was \$17,483 (2004 USD).⁷⁸

More recently, in a 2010 review of 32 studies, Heinrich et al. performed a systemic review of the cost of falls and reported a total cost per fall of \$10,913 (2006 USD) and fall-related hospitalization costs that range from \$10,052- \$42,840 (2006 USD) in the United States depending on fall severity.¹² In estimating the potential return of fall reduction, a 2011 analysis by Miller et al. estimated fall-related hospitalizations to cost \$25,500 in 2009 USD and further assumed that non-hospital costs add an additional 37%, putting the total fall-associated cost at \$40,227 (2009 USD).⁵ Burns et al. (2016) estimates the cost of a fatal fall to be \$25,487 (2012 USD). For non-fatal falls, they estimated the average cost of a fall-related hospitalization, ED visit, and outpatient (OP) visit to be \$29,562, \$4,673, and \$5,625, respectively (2012 USD).¹¹

Table 5. Summary of Estimates of Fall-related Costs.

Study	Type of Fall	Cost Type (Year)	Estimate	Cost in 2022 USD*
		Hospital (1996)	\$11,042	\$19,209
Rizzo (1998) ⁷⁷	Injurious	Nursing Home (1996)	\$5,325	\$9,264
		Total (1996)	\$19,440	\$33,819
Roudsari (2005) ⁷⁸	Injurious	Hospital (2004)	\$17,483	\$26,217
Heinrich (2010) ¹² Bohl (2010) ⁹		Total (2006)	\$10,913	\$15,390
	A 11	Hospital (2006)	\$10,052-\$42,840	\$14,176- \$60,417
	All	ED visit (2006)	\$251- \$873	\$354-\$1,231
		OP visit (2006)	\$439	\$619
	All	Quarterly total (2006)	\$30,038	\$42,362
		Quarterly fall-related (2006)	\$27,745	\$39,128
M/- (2010)*		Incremental vs those with no falls for age 65-74 (2008)	\$10,582	\$14,262
Wu (2010) ⁸	Recurrent falls	Incremental vs those with no falls for age 75+ (2008)	\$13,228	\$17,828
Miller (2011)5	All	Hospital (2009)	\$25,500	\$34,143
Miller (2011) ⁵	All	Total (2009)	\$40,227	\$53,862
Wong (2011) ¹⁷	In-hospital falls	Incremental (2006)	\$13,316	\$18,779
Howland	Iniurious	ED visit (2013)	\$2,823	\$3,529
(2015)68	Injurious	Hospital (2013)	\$25,465	\$31,835
Carande-Kulis (2015) ¹	All	Direct medical (2012)	\$11,502	\$14,633
	In-hospital, non-injurious	Hospital (2012)	\$1,130-\$2,033	1,438-\$2,586 (midpoint = \$2,012
Spetz (2015)67	In-hospital, injurious	Hospital (2012)	\$7,136- \$15,444	\$9,079-\$19,649 (midpoint = \$14,364
	In-hospital, serious injury	Hospital (2012)	\$17,567- \$30,931	\$22,350- \$39,352 (midpoint = \$30,85
	Fatal	Total (2012)	\$25,487	\$32,426
		Total (2012)	\$9,463	\$12,039
Burns (2016) ¹¹	Non fatal	Hospital (2012)	\$29,562	\$37,610
	Non-fatal	ED visit (2012)	\$4,673	\$5,945
		OP visit (2012)	\$5,625	\$7,156

*Using the GDP Price Index



Table 5 shows that the average cost of fall-related hospitalizations typically hovers between \$20,000-\$30,000, and total costs may reach as high as \$60,000 (2022 USD) or more per fall.

Additionally, although patients who fall may have other medical conditions, at least one study has shown that most cost increases after a fall are a direct result from falling. Bohl et al. (2010) estimated the total cost of falling during the quarter in which a fall occurred to be \$30,038; of this total cost, 92% (\$27,745 in 2006 USD) of these costs were attributed to the fall.⁹ In 2022 USD, those values are \$42,362 and \$39,128, respectively.

In addition to the direct medical costs associated with an acute falling event, falls have long-lasting effects. The most basic of these is a significantly increased chance of a subsequent fall,¹³⁻¹⁵ which leads to additional costs whether the falls happen at home or in a care setting. Individuals who fall while in the hospital have longer lengths of stay (LOS), resulting in higher hospital costs.¹⁶⁻¹⁸ Further, falls are associated with an increased risk of nursing home or long-term care placement after hospital discharge.¹⁹⁻²¹ Falls among older adults are the leading cause of head injuries and hip fractures (in fact, 95% of hip fractures result from a fall), and can impede mobility and cognitive function, leading to restrictions in daily activities.⁷

There are published studies on the effectiveness of evidence-based, fall-prevention programs, which we now explore.

Interventions to Reduce Fall Risk

The literature on reducing fall risk is extensive. A report from WHO entitled "Step safety, strategies for preventing and managing falls across the life-course" made technical recommendations for different settings and aged individuals. **The "Strongly recommended" strategies for reducing falls of older adults in the home included "gait, balance, and functional training, Tai Chi, and home assessment and modifications."**⁷⁹ A recent study of over 5,100 community-dwelling Medicare beneficiaries concluded that "balance training is appropriate to reduce falls in older adults with a fear of falling."⁴³ Several studies or reviews of studies also demonstrated specific evidence.

Dautzenberg et al. report a reduction in falls and fall-related fractures from exercise interventions and falls assessments.⁸⁰ A controlled study of an exercise program (gym sessions and Tai Chi) with 24-month follow-up produced a 14.3% fall rate reduction, and a 38% lower fracture rate.⁵⁶

A meta-analysis of 5 systematic reviews that included 32 RCTs produced pooled risk ratios demonstrating reductions in fall risk (vs a control group): strength/resistance (RR = 0.6, p=0.046), three dimensional (constant movement through all three spatial planes, like Tai Chi; RR = 0.51, p=0.004). There were also benefits from "mixed exercises" or "multicomponent."⁸¹ Another systematic review and meta-analysis of 66 RCTs reported that "postural control training" (which includes balance and coordination) was the most effective strategy for reducing fall risk.⁸²

Multiple studies also suggest that **fall-prevention interventions are often cost-effective,** including a tailored exercise program (strength, balance, cardiovascular exercise, stretching, functional training).⁸³ Additionally, a review of interventions concluded that fall-prevention exercise programs "are likely to be cost-effective."⁸⁴ These studies explore physical activity interventions generally; research specific to the four programs offered by Juniper provide more insight into specific benefits.

The Effectiveness of Matter Of Balance (MOB)

A report by CMS states that "MOB participation was associated with total medical savings"⁷³ and cites a study by Ghimire et al. (2015) where MOB participation was associated with a \$938 decrease in total medical costs per person per year for Medicare patients, a \$517 decrease in costs for unplanned hospitalizations, and \$234 in reduced skilled nursing facility (SNF) costs (2012 USD).⁸⁵ Their analysis of 2006-2013 Medicare data linked with 2007-2011 MOB program data found that one unplanned hospitalization was prevented per year for every 20 MOB participants. However, results were closely linked with class attendance; total medical costs of those who attended fewer than five sessions increased by over \$2,000, while total medical costs for those who attended five or more sessions decreased by more than \$1,300.

A 2013 study of community-dwelling older adults in Florida observed that MOB participants were 84% less likely to report a fall at follow-up, despite being older and having more chronic conditions, more functional limitations, worse global cognitive function, a greater fear of falling, and lower falls efficacy at baseline than the comparison group.⁶⁹ The MOB group who experienced a fall dropped from 33% to 11% (while in the comparison group it increased from 29% to 30%); individuals experiencing multiple falls dropped from 9% to 3% (the comparison group increased from 9% to 10%). Smith et al. studied older women (mean age = 76 years) who participated in MOB and observed the average number of falls per 30 days decrease from 0.34 at baseline to 0.22 post-intervention; this was also true among women ages 75+ (0.32 to 0.20). A study in North Carolina of MOB reported a drop in the total number of falls (self-reported) among the 4,296 participants from 1178 (pre-survey) to 669 (post-survey), a reduction of 62%; the number of falls with injury dropped 47%, from 432 to 112.⁸⁶

Howland et al. (2013) estimate that among community-dwelling older adults treated at EDs for injurious falls in Massachusetts, a referral to a MOB program to reduce repeat falls could produce a return on investment (ROI) of 144%, saving the state between \$2.8 million-\$8.4 million, depending on the participation rate.⁶⁸ The authors used inputs from a Dutch study on MOB by Zijlstra et al. (2009), which observed recurrent fall odds were reduced by 62% (odds ratio = 0.38).⁶⁴ Miller et al. (2011) explored potential cost savings of MOB. It determined that if applied to 140 hypothetical participants with a "normal" fall risk (100 of whom would complete the program), the program would produce a positive ROI if it averted 6.6 falls in the first year of the program (averting 8.2 falls would produce an ROI of 25% and averting 9.9 falls would produce an ROI of 50%). When applied to participants at a "high" risk of falling, a positive ROI would occur after averting 4.4 falls (averting 5.5 and 6.6 falls would produce 25% and 50% ROIs, respectively).⁵

One of the reasons this program is effective is that it reduces the fear of falling and improves overall strength and balance. Alexander et al. (2015) observed that **"Participation in the MOB program significantly improved balance confidence among community-dwelling older adults."**⁸⁷ The authors reported quantitative improvements in the total score of the Activities-specific Balance Confidence (ABC) Scale and in the functional activities of reaching for a small can on a shelf at eye level, walking outside to a car parked in the driveway, and walking outside on icy sidewalks. **Falls efficacy**, a measure frequently associated with the scale, developed by the original MOB developer,⁷⁴ reflects an individual's beliefs about their ability to prevent and manage falls. Falls efficacy has frequently improved as a result of MOB,⁸⁸⁻⁹² even among individuals ages 85+.⁹³ Improving falls efficacy can reduce the fear of falling and increase physical activity, boosting falls efficacy even more.⁹³

It is also encouraging to note that MOB appears to be feasible and effective for those with multiple chronic conditions;⁹⁴ positive effects have been observed regardless of urban or rural location,^{89,92} or ethnicity.⁸⁸



The Effectiveness of Tai Ji Quan: Moving for Better Balance (TJQMBB)

Tai Ji Quan: Moving for Better Balance (TJQMBB), a balance training program based on adapted Tai Chi, has also been shown to be effective for reducing falls, improving health,^{6,95,96} and reducing healthcare costs.¹²¹ Much of the relevant literature on the effectiveness of TJQMBB (formerly referred to "Tai Chi: Moving for Better Balance") stems from research by Dr. Fuzhong Li, who developed the program.). As described in a 2014 review article by Dr. Li, TJQMBB is well suited for improving balance and reducing fall risk. It "emphasizes movements performed with 'rooted' feet, centered body mass, bilateral weight-shifting initiated from the waist…and smooth and rhythmic movement."⁹⁷ Therefore, TJQMBB helps postural control and promotes stability,⁶¹ which is important for performing activities of daily living. It is also safe and effective for those with chronic conditions or physical limitations, such as Parkinson's disease.^{98,99}

Dr. Li summarizes his earlier research specific to TJQMBB in a 2014 literature review. This research include a 24-week randomized controlled trial (RCT) where **individuals practicing TJQMBB showed significant improvements in four clinical physical performance measures when compared to those in a low-impact exercise group,** and a 12-week, pre-post study where TJQMBB participants demonstrated significant improvements in functional reach, the Timed Up and Go (TUG) test, chair stands, and 50-foot walk speed. In a subsequent 24-week study, individuals who were referred by healthcare providers showed significant improvements in stability, measures of gait and strength, walking velocity, functional reach, TUG, and the time it takes to rise from a chair.⁹⁷

Other research by Dr. Li includes an RCT published in 2005, where, after 6 months, participants of the TJQMBB program reported significantly fewer falls, fewer injurious falls, and fewer medical care visits for injurious falls. In fact, the relative risk for moderate injurious falls for TJQMBB participants was 0.31 and for severe falls requiring medical attention it was 0.28, which reflects relative improvement of 69% and 72%, respectively. After 12 months, the fall rate for TJQMBB participants was less than half that of controls: 3.16 falls vs 8.96 falls per 100 patient months. There were also significant improvements in functional balance measures attributable to the treatment group.⁵⁹ Other studies have demonstrated reductions in falls when TJQMBB was implemented in senior centers⁴ and in the outpatient clinic setting.⁶⁰ The program also appears to be feasible and effective when implemented among non-English speaking community residents, as demonstrated by Fink et al. (2014).¹⁰⁰

More recently, Dr. Li and colleagues performed another RCT from 2015-2018 on community-dwelling adults ages 70+ who had fallen in the previous 12 months. **At 6 months, TJQMBB participants had significantly fewer falls and a lower fall rate than the comparison group, who participated in basic stretching exercises.**^{71,101,102} In addition, the treatment group had significantly better health state utility scores and less total healthcare utilization cost per individual,¹⁰¹ making it the economically dominant strategy over stretching alone or multimodal exercise. At 12 months, the TJQMBB group had less moderate injurious falls than stretching alone and less serious injurious falls than the multimodal exercise intervention.⁷¹

In a review by Stevens et al. (2014), the authors discuss benefits of TJQMBB on bone density, cardio-pulmonary outcomes, physical functioning, psychological symptoms, quality of life, and immune system functioning, in addition to its ability to reduce falls. The authors note the program's effectiveness is due to its focus on improving balance, increasing physical difficulty, and the participants' commitment to invest at least 50 hours of practice throughout the duration of the program.¹⁰³

The Effectiveness of Stepping On

The Stepping On program is aimed at individuals ages 60+ who live independently. Individuals who live in a congregate care setting, use an assistive device for ambulation, or have cognitive impairment are screened by the program facilitator for appropriateness of the program. Although not required, Stepping On is suggested as follow-up program for someone who has completed the MOB program. The original RCT on Stepping On was performed in Australia and published in 2004 by Clemson et al. This study demonstrated a 31% reduction in falls (relative risk = 0.69, p=0.025).¹⁰⁴ Using this result, Carande-Kulis (2015) estimated in an **economic analysis that the program would produce a net benefit of approximately \$130 per participant and a ROI of about 60%.**¹

In community-based studies, Stepping On has demonstrated smaller, but still significant, effects. In a study of 2,219 community-dwelling adults in Wisconsin from 2008-2011, Mahoney et al. (2020) observed a 38% reduction in fall rate during the first 6 months after program completion compared to baseline (rate ratio = 0.62). Six to twelve months after program completion, the improvement was attenuated, but still significant: a 28% reduction versus baseline.¹⁰ In a community-level study across 20 communities, the program resulted in an 8-9% reduction in fall-related hospitalizations and ED visits.¹⁰⁵ In a study of rural communities, Ford et al. (2017) observed self-reported fall rates drop by almost half (0.87 per six months to 0.45, p < 0.001) and self-reported fall-related ED visit rates drop by more than two-thirds (0.07 per six months to 0.02, p < 0.01).⁶²

In addition to fall-related outcomes, **there is evidence that the Stepping On program improves balance, self-reported health status, and quality of life.** After the 7-week program was administered to community-dwelling adults ages 60+ in Oregon, Colorado, and New York, participants not only significantly improved on the TUG test, but they also self-reported improvements in several other areas. Significant improvements were seen in the percentage of participants who reported excellent or very good health status, very/mostly satisfied with activity levels, confidence in not falling, no difficulty walking one block, no difficulty getting out of a straight back chair, and no difficulty in climbing one flight of stairs.¹⁰⁶



The Effectiveness of Stay Active and Independent for Life (SAIL)

Like the other fall prevention programs, SAIL is intended for community-dwelling older adults ages 65+ with a fear of falling or a history of falls. It is especially good for those who need accountability and structure for staying active.

The original study on the benefits of the program occurred from 2003-2005 and was published in 2007, before the program had been officially named. When compared with the control group, those receiving the intervention **had significantly greater improvements in measures of balance, leg strength, and mobility.** The intervention group also had a 25% lower fall rate, but since the study was powered to detect a 29% decrease in fall rate, the result was not statistically significant. The authors note that in the study population, 75% had no history of falls in the previous 3 months and 50% were considered to have a low fall risk based on Berg Balance Scores. It is unknown if the low-risk nature of study participants contributed to the lack of a statistically significant difference. in the change in fall rates is unknown. However, attendance was linked to decreases in the likelihood for falling; those who attended more sessions tended to have lower fall rates. Additionally, those in the intervention group were more likely to have increased their exercise (65% vs 33%) and more likely to have discussed falls with their health care provider (19% vs 11%) compared with those in the control group.⁵⁸

A few years later, a study of 331 adults who participated in the SAIL program found **significant improvements in measures related to performing activities of daily living, strength, balance, fitness, and flexibility.** As with the first study, higher attendance was associated with larger improvements. Additionally, when asked, 80% of participants found the educational component of the program helpful.¹⁰⁷

Effectiveness of Higher Patient Activation

Teaching individuals how to manage their own health and arming them with the appropriate knowledge, often referred to as "patient activation," has been associated with lower healthcare costs, and is a key component of the fall prevention programs presented above. Multiple studies have shown direct financial benefits from increased patient activation. Higher levels of patient activation have been associated with fewer hospitalizations and ED visits,^{108,109} more preventive care (e.g., check-ups, screenings, immunizations) and healthier behaviors,¹⁰⁹ and lower healthcare costs.¹¹⁰ Specifically, a pair of Minnesota-based studies reported that individuals with higher levels of patient activation had within-normal clinical indicators, fewer ED visits (16% vs 24.1%, p<0.001) and fewer hospital stays (7.8% vs 13.1%, p<0.001).¹⁰⁸ Higher patient activation was associated with lower annual healthcare costs per patient, including individuals with hyperlipidemia, \$6,089 vs \$5,454, hypertension, \$7,687 vs 6,750, asthma, \$6,581 vs 5,442, and diabetes, \$8,474 vs \$7,901.¹¹⁰ A 2013 literature review found evidence that individuals with higher patient activation were more likely to get regular check-ups, screenings, and immunizations, made healthier choices regarding diet and exercise, and avoided smoking and drug use. Higher patient activation among study participants was also associated with normal BMI, HbA1c, blood pressure and cholesterol, and fewer hospitalizations and ED visits. High patient activation among individuals with chronic conditions was associated with higher treatment adherence and self-monitoring.¹⁰⁹

COST-SAVINGS ANALYSIS

Estimating Direct Fall-Related Costs

Previous studies and economic analyses provide ample evidence of the healthcare costs associated with falls in older adults. Estimates vary by type of fall (e.g., injurious, non-injurious, fatal, non-fatal, overall, etc.), setting (e.g., community, while hospitalized, while in assisted living, etc.), and type of care provided (e.g., any medical attention, hospitalization, ED visit, nursing home, OP visit, overall, etc.). Appendix A highlights these articles.

To determine estimates for the total cost per fall, information was combined from several articles (Table 6).

Study	Description	Estimate of Cost Per Fall*
Heinrich (2010) ¹²	A review of studies from several countries; the estimate from cost per fall comes from a US study (studies from Finland and Sweden had significantly lower cost per fall)	\$15,390
Miller (2011)⁵	Estimated fall-related costs	\$1,670 for low-risk individuals to \$3,852 for high-risk individuals
Carande-Kulis (2015) ¹	An economic analysis; used national data from 2000 on the total direct medical costs for "fatal and non-fatal" falls and the number of falls to arrive at an average	\$14,633 per fall
Burns (2016) ¹¹	Used 2012 claims data to determine the overall cost and number of fatal and non-fatal falls	\$32,426 for fatal falls \$12,039 for non-fatal falls

Table 6. Cost per fall estimates from literature review.

*All dollar values have been converted to 2022 USD

The average of these values is \$13,335. The lowest estimate among these is \$1,670. Note that both of these values are significantly lower than what the NCOA and the CDC report for the cost of falls, \$30,000 per fall. Additionally, these values exclude several higher estimates, including one from Rizzo et al. (1998) who estimated that the annual increase in total costs for those who experience an injurious fall is \$33,819 (USD 2022),⁷⁷ Bohl et al. (2010) who estimated a quarterly total cost of \$42,362 (USD 2022) per fall that required medical care,⁹ and Miller et al. (2011) who estimated that falls requiring a hospitalization have direct costs of \$34,143 (USD 2022) and indirect costs of \$19,719 (USD 2022).⁵ These papers are not directly applicable to estimates on the "cost per any fall" due to focusing only on injurious falls. Therefore, it is notable that they are all significantly higher than the average used for this paper, \$13,335, suggesting that the estimates for this analysis are conservative.

Estimates of the cost per hospitalization, ED visit, and OP visit were developed through a similar process. For the cost per fall-related hospitalization, the average of seven estimates (low = \$19,209; high = \$60,417; mean = \$31,944, all USD 2022) from six different publications were calculated.^{5,11,12,68,77,78} Costs for fall-related ED visits ranged from $$354-$5,945^{11,12,68}$ (USD 2022); two of these articles also estimated costs for OP visits, estimated at \$619- \$7,156 (USD 2022).^{11,12} Based on these studies, the estimated fall-related ED/OP visit is \$3,139.



Indirect Costs

In addition to the direct medical costs associated with an acute falling event, falls have long-lasting effects. Specifically, experiencing a fall significantly increases the chances of a subsequent fall,¹³⁻¹⁵ which leads to additional costs, whether the falls happen at home or in a care setting. Those who fall while in the hospital have longer lengths of stay and incur higher hospital costs.¹⁶⁻¹⁸ Further, falls are associated with an increased risk of nursing home or long-term care placement after hospital discharge.¹⁹⁻²¹ Falls among older adults are the leading cause of head injuries and hip fractures (in fact, 95% of hip fractures are the result of a fall), and can impede mobility and cognitive function, leading to restrictions in activities of daily living.⁷

This analysis excludes indirect costs and those associated with the long-term detriments to falls, indicating these results are conservative.

Cost Savings of MOB

Pre- and post-survey questionnaire responses from Juniper participants between 01/01/2019-01/17/2020 were used to find the cost savings of the MOB program. A total of 978 MOB participants completed at least some of the pre-survey questionnaire at session 1 (Time 1); of those, 645 participants reported fall-related information. Fewer participants (*n*=473) provided post-survey, fall-related information at session 8 (Time 2), eight weeks later. Even fewer individuals (*n*=418) provided fall information at both time points (Table 7).

	Participants	with Data at Ei	ther Time 1 or 2	Participants	oth Time 1 and 2	
	Time 1	Time 2	Difference	Time 1	Time 2	Difference
N	645	473		418	418	
1+ falls	239 (37.1%)	81 (17.1%)	19.9% p<0.0001*	137 (33%)	63 (15%)	-18% p<0.0001**
Total Falls	408	111	-297	222	88	-134
Average Falls	0.633	0.235	-0.398	0.531	0.211	-0.321

Table 7. Self-reported falls of Juniper MOB participants.

*Chi-squared test

**Paired t-test on mean change in number of falls

The difference in total falls, (n=297) may be influenced by the smaller sample size at Time 2 (n=473) vs. Time 1 (n=645). Therefore, the number of falls that would have been at Time 2 if the sample size had equaled that of Time 1 was imputed (n=257), and used to calculate the reduced falls from that value (Table 8).

Inputs for the Cost-Savings Analysis

Table 8 includes the inputs used to calculate the cost savings associated with MOB.

Input Type	Input	Source	Description			
Total Sample Size	645	Juniper data	The total who reported # of falls at Time 1 (4143 total classes, 548 "completers")			
	418	Juniper data	The total who reported # of falls at both Time 1 and Time 2 (2983 total classes, 410 "completers")			
# of falls avoided	297	Juniper data	The observed decrease from Time 1 (n=408) to Time 2 (n=111) among participants who reported falls at EITHER time			
	257	Juniper data	The imputed decrease from the observed falls at Time 1 (n=408) to the calculated falls at Time 2 using the Time 1 sample size and the average falls per person at Time 2 (645 x .235 = 151)			
	134	Juniper data	The observed decrease from Time 1 (222) to Time 2 (88) among all who reported falls at BOTH times			
% of falls needing hospitalization 3.1-11% Miller (2011), Bohl (2010)			The range from these studies			
% of falls needing ED/Outpatient visit	14-18% Mahoney (2020)		This study's observations over two samples			
Savings per fall avoided (all falls)	\$ 13,335	Heinrich (2010), Miller (2011), Carande-Kulis (2015), Burns (2016)	The average of values from these studies adjusted to 2022 USD			
	\$1,670	Miller (2011)	The lowest value found in the literature adjusted to 2022 USD			
hospitalization avoided (2015), Burns		Roudsari (2005), Heinrick (2010), Miller (2011), Howland	The average of values from these studies adjusted to 2022 USD			
Savings per fall-related ED/ Outpatient visit avoided \$3,139 (2015), Burns (2016)		(2015), Burns	The average of fall-related ED and OP visits from these studies adjusted to 2022 USD			

Table 8. Inputs for MOB cost-savings analysis.

Depending on the sample and value for savings per fall avoided, the overall savings for MOB ranged from \$223,780-\$3.96M (Table 9). Regardless of the sample, when using a savings per fall avoided of \$13,335, the savings per session attended is at least \$599 and per completer is at least \$4,358. When using the conservative savings per fall avoided of \$1,670, the estimated savings per session attended and per completer are at least \$75 and \$546, respectively.

Table 9. Estimated cost savings for MOB.

		Inputs	i		Benefits (Cost Avoidance)					
Sample Size	Falls Avoided	Total # Sessions	Total # Completers	Savings Per Fall Avoided	Total Savings	Savings Per Patient	Savings Per Completer	Savings Per Session Attended		
645	297	4,143	548	\$13,335	\$3,960,495	\$6,140	\$7,227	\$956		
645	297	4,143	548	\$13,335	\$3,427,095	\$5,313	\$6,254	\$827		
645	297	4,143	548	\$1,670	\$429,190	\$665	\$783	\$104		
418	134	2,983	410	\$13,335	\$1,786,890	\$4,275	\$4,358	\$599		
418	134	2,983	410	\$1,670	\$223,780	\$535	\$546	\$75		

Scenarios using savings per hospitalization and ED visit avoided were explored, instead of a total savings per fall avoided. In these scenarios, the only savings calculated comes solely from avoiding those events, and therefore only involve a fraction of the sample. The cost savings of \$0 was assumed for avoiding non-injurious falls, indicating conservative results for this analysis (Table 10).

Table 10. Estimated cost savings for MOB related to hospitalizations and ED visits.

			Ir	nputs				Benefits (Cost Avoidance)			
Sample Size	Falls Avoided	Total # Sessions	Total # Completers	% of Falls Needing Hosp	% of Falls Needing PhysEd	Savings Per Hosp Avoided	Savings Per Phys/ Ed Visit	Total Savings	Savings Per Patient	Savings Per Completer	Savings Per Session Attended
645	297	4,143	548	3.1%	14%	\$31,944	\$3,139	\$424,628	\$658	\$775	\$102
645	297	4,143	548	3.1%	14%	\$31,944	\$3,139	\$367,439	\$570	\$671	\$89
418	134	2,983	410	3.1%	14%	\$31,944	\$3,139	\$191,583	\$458	\$467	\$64
645	297	4,143	548	11.0%	18%	\$31,944	\$3,139	\$1,211,421	\$1,878	\$2,211	\$292
645	297	4,143	548	11.0%	18%	\$31,944	\$3,139	\$1,048,267	\$1,625	\$1,913	\$253
418	134	2,983	410	11.0%	18%	\$31,944	\$3,139	\$546,567	\$1,308	\$1,333	\$183

If savings from cost avoidance of indirect outcomes associated with falls and improved self-reported outcomes (e.g., well-being, fear of falling, etc.) were included in this analysis, the return would be even higher. These results suggest significant cost savings from the MOB program.

Cost Savings of TJQMBB

Pre- and post-survey questionnaire responses from Juniper participants between 01/01/2019- 01/17/2020 were used to find the cost savings of the TJQMBB program. A total of 952 individuals who started the TJQMBB program and completed at least some of the pre-survey questionnaire at Time 1. As before, available sample sizes varied depending on the completion of the survey questionnaire. (Table 11).

	Participants	with Data at Ei	ther Time 1 or 2	Participants with Data at Both Time 1 and 2			
	Time 1	Time 2	Difference	Time 1	Time 2	Difference	
Ν	582	373	-8.8% p=0.0013*	321	321		
1+ falls	137 (23.5%)	55 (14.7%)	-145	66 (20.6%)	47 (14.6%)	-5.9% p=0.0026**	
Total Falls	223	78	-0.174	110	68	-42	
Average Falls	0.383	0.209	-0.398	0.343	0.211	-0.131	

Table 11. Self-reported falls of Juniper TJQMBB participants.

*Chi-squared test

**Paired t-test on mean change in number of falls

Because the difference in total falls (n=145) may be influenced by the smaller sample size at Time 2 (n=373) vs Time 1 (n=582), the number of falls that would have been at Time 2 if the sample size had equaled that of Time 1 (n=101), was imputed, and used to calculate the reduced number of falls from that value (Table 12).

Inputs for the Cost-Savings Analysis for TJQMBB

The inputs to figure out fall-related costs using the percentage of falls requiring hospitalization and/or ED/OP physician visits used the same methodology as the MOB analysis (Table 12).

Table 12. Inputs for TJQMBB cost-savings analysis.

Input Type	Input	Source	Description
Total Sample Size	582	Juniper data	The total who reported # of falls at Time 1 (9129 total classes, 381 "completers")
	321	Juniper data	The total who reported # of falls at both Time 1 and Time 2 (6132 total classes, 282 "completers")
# of falls avoided	145	Juniper data	The observed decrease from Time 1 (223) to Time 2 (78) among all who reported falls at EITHER time (cell H67)
	101	Juniper data	The decrease from the observed falls at Time 1 (223) to the calculated falls at Time 2 using the Time 1 Sample size and the Time 2 average falls per person (582 x .209 = 101)
	42	Jujniper data	The observed decrease from Time 1 (110) to Time 2 (68) among all who reported falls at BOTH times (cell U66)

Depending on the sample and value for savings per fall avoided, the overall savings ranged from \$70,140-\$1.9M. Regardless of the sample, when using a savings per fall avoided of \$13,335, the savings per session attended is at least \$91 and savings per completer is at least \$1,745. When using the conservative savings per fall avoided of \$1,670, the estimated savings per session attended and per completer are at least \$11 and \$249, respectively (Table 13).

Inputs **Benefits (Cost Avoidance)** Savings Savings Sample Falls Total # Total # Total Savings Per **Savings Per** Per Fall Per Session Avoided Size Sessions Completers Savings Patient Completer Avoided Attended 582 145 9,129 381 \$13,335 \$1,933,575 \$3,322 \$5,075 \$212 582 101 9,129 381 \$13,335 \$1,346,835 \$2,314 \$3,535 \$148 582 101 9,129 381 \$1,670 \$168,670 \$290 \$443 \$18 321 \$13,335 \$1,745 \$1,986 \$91 42 6,132 282 \$560,070 321 42 6,132 282 \$1,670 \$70,140 \$219 \$249 \$11

Table 13. Estimated cost savings for TJQMBB.

Like the MOB analysis, scenarios using savings per hospitalization and ED visit avoided were calculated. The cost savings of \$0 was assumed for avoiding non-injurious falls, indicating conservative results for this analysis. The results are similar, in that, the savings per session attended ranges from \$10-\$65 and per completer ranges from \$213-\$1,552 (Table 14).

Table 14. Estimated cost savings for TJQMBB related to hospitalizations and ED visits.

			Ir	nputs				Benefits (Cost Avoidance)			
Sample Size	Falls Avoided	Total # Sessions	Total # Completers	% of Falls Needing Hosp	% of Falls Needing PhysEd	Savings Per Hosp Avoided	Savings Per Phys/ Ed Visit	Total Savings	Savings Per Patient	Savings Per Completer	Savings Per Session Attended
582	145	9,129	381	3.1%	14%	\$31,944	\$3,139	\$207,310	\$356	\$554	\$23
582	101	9,129	381	3.1%	14%	\$31,944	\$3,139	\$144,402	\$248	\$379	\$16
321	42	6,132	282	3.1%	14%	\$31,944	\$3,139	\$60,048	\$187	\$213	\$10
582	145	9,129	381	11.0%	18%	\$31,944	\$3,139	\$591,435	\$1,016	\$1,552	\$65
582	101	9,129	381	11.0%	18%	\$31,944	\$3,139	\$411,965	\$708	\$1,081	\$45
321	42	6,132	282	11.0%	18%	\$31,944	\$3,139	\$171,312	\$534	\$607	\$28

The savings per session attended is less for this class because the TJQMBB program involves more sessions than the other Juniper-supported fall prevention programs.

Cost Savings of Stepping On

The analysis of Stepping On included 559 participants. As before, the number of falls that would have been at Time 2 if the sample size had equaled that of Time 1, was imputed (n=152), and used to calculate the reduced number of falls from that value (Tables 15 and 16).

Table 15. Self-reported falls of Juniper Stepping On participants.

	Participants	with Data at Ei	ther Time 1 or 2	Participants with Data at Both Time 1 and 2			
	Time 1	Time 2	Difference	Time 1	Time 2	Difference	
Ν	357	284		240	240		
1+ falls	124 (34.7%)	46 (16.2%)	-18.5% p<0.0001*	65 (27.1%)	31 (12.9%)	-14.2% p<0.0001**	
Total Falls	217	52	-165	104	37	-67	
Average Falls	0.608	0.183	-0.425	0.433	0.154	-0.279	

*Chi-squared test

**Paired t-test on mean change in number of falls

Inputs for the cost-savings analysis for Stepping On

The inputs to figure out fall-related costs using the percentage of falls requiring hospitalization and/or ED/OP physician visits used the same methodology as the MOB and TJQMBB analyses (Table 16).

Table 16. Inputs for Stepping On cost-savings analysis.

Input Type	Input	Source	Description			
Total Sample Size	al Sample Size 357 Juniper data		The total who reported # of falls at Time 1 (2040 total classes, 299 "completers")			
	240	Juniper data	The total who reported # of falls at both Time 1 and Time 2 (1502 total classes, 230 "completers")			
# of falls avoided	of falls avoided 165 Juniper dat		The observed decrease from Time 1 (217) to Time 2 (5 among all who reported falls at EITHER time (cell H67			
			The decrease from the observed falls at Time 1 (217) to the calculated falls at Time 2 using the Time 1 Sample size and the Time 2 average falls per person (357 x .209 = 101)			
	67	Juniper data	The observed decrease from Time 1 (104) to Time 2 (37) among all who reported falls at BOTH times (cell U66)			

As with the other fall-prevention programs, the total savings varies depending on the number of falls avoided and the assumed savings per fall assumed. Stepping On produced a total savings between \$111,890-\$2.2M, with savings per session attended and per completer potentially as high as \$1,079 and \$7,359, respectively (Table 17).

Table 17. Estimated cost savings for Stepping On.

		Inputs	;		Benefits (Cost Avoidance)					
Sample Size	Falls Avoided	Total # Sessions	Total # Completers	Savings Per Fall Avoided	Total Savings	Savings Per Patient	Savings Per Completer	Savings Per Session Attended		
357	165	2,040	299	\$13,335	\$2,200,275	\$6,163	\$7,359	\$1,079		
357	152	2,040	299	\$13,335	\$2,026,920	\$5,678	\$6,779	\$994		
357	152	2,040	299	\$1,670	\$253,840	\$711	\$849	\$124		
240	67	1,502	230	\$13,335	\$893,445	\$3,723	\$3,885	\$595		
240	67	1,502	230	\$1,670	\$111,890	\$466	\$486	\$74		

Like the cost-savings analysis for MOB and TJQMBB, \$0 cost savings were assumed for avoiding non-injurious falls, indicating conservative results for this analysis. When using savings per hospitalization and ED/OP physician visit avoided, the savings are more modest (Table 18).

Table 18. Estimated cost savings for Stepping On related to hospitalizations and ED visits.

			Ir	nputs				Benefits (Cost Avoidance)			
Sample Size	Falls Avoided	Total # Sessions	Total # Completers	% of Falls Needing Hosp	% of Falls Needing PhysEd	Savings Per Hosp Avoided	Savings Per Phys/ Ed Visit	Total Savings	Savings Per Patient	Savings Per Completer	Savings Per Session Attended
357	165	2,040	299	3.1%	14%	\$31,944	\$3,139	\$235,904	\$661	\$789	\$116
357	152	2,040	299	3.1%	14%	\$31,944	\$3,139	\$217,318	\$609	\$727	\$107
240	67	1,502	230	3.1%	14%	\$31,944	\$3,139	\$95,792	\$399	\$416	\$64
357	165	2,040	299	11.0%	18%	\$31,944	\$3,139	\$673,012	\$1,885	\$2,251	\$330
357	152	2,040	299	11.0%	18%	\$31,944	\$3,139	\$619,987	\$1,737	\$2,074	\$304
240	42	1,502	230	11.0%	18%	\$31,944	\$3,139	\$171,312	\$714	\$745	\$114

Cost Savings of SAIL

The analysis of SAIL included 365 participants, the smallest enrollment among all the Junipersupported fall prevention programs (Table 19).

Table 19. Self-reported falls of Juniper SAIL participants.

	Participants	with Data at Ei	ther Time 1 or 2	Participants with Data at Both Time 1 and 2			
	Time 1	Time 2	Difference	Time 1	Time 2	Difference	
Ν	178	141		106	106		
1+ falls	48 (27.0%)	29 (20.6%)	-6.4% p=0.2322*	23 (21.7%)	16 (15.1%)	-6.6% p=0.7074**	
Total Falls	58	42	-16	25	29	+4	
Average Falls	0.326	0.298	-0.028	0.236	0.274	+0.038	

*Chi-squared test

**Paired t-test on mean change in number of falls

As with the other analyses, the number of falls that one could expect if the sample size at Time 2 had been the same as at Time 1 (n=5), was imputed to calculate the reduced number of falls from that value (Table 20).

The SAIL program had the lowest reduction in fall avoidance, resulting in modest cost savings. For the subset of participants with data at both periods, falls increased with no statistical significance. This result is due to a small sample size. Thus, the SAIL cost-savings analysis focuses on participants with survey questionnaire responses at Time 1 or Time 2; cost savings were not calculated for the subset of participants with survey questionnaires at both Times 1 and 2.

Inputs for the cost-savings analysis for SAIL

Inputs to figure out fall-related costs and the percentage of falls requiring hospitalization and/or ED/ OP physician visits are the same as for the MOB, TJQMBB, and Stepping On analyses (Table 20).

Table 20. Inputs for SAIL cost-savings analysis.

Input Type	Input	Source	Description
Total Sample Size	178	Juniper data	The total who reported # of falls at Time 1 (n=2569 total classes, n=88 "completers")
Falls avoided	16	Juniper data	The observed decrease from Time 1 (n=58) to Time 2 (n=42) among all who reported falls at EITHER time (cell H67)
	5	Juniper data	The decrease from the observed falls at Time 1 (58) to the calculated falls at Time 2 using the Time 1 Sample size and the Time 2 average falls per person (178 x .298 = 5)

Applying the most conservative estimate for savings per fall avoided, \$1,670, the SAIL program still produces a total savings of \$8,350, savings per session of \$3 and per completer of \$95. Using savings per fall avoided of \$13,335, the program provides significant total savings, per session attended and per completer (Table 21).

Table 21. Estimated cost savings for SAIL.

Inputs					Benefits (Cost Avoidance)				
Sample Size	Falls Avoided	Total # Sessions	Total # Completers	Savings Per Fall Avoided	Total Savings	Savings Per Patient	Savings Per Completer	Savings Per Session Attended	
178	16	2,569	88	\$13,335	\$213,360	\$1,199	\$2,425	\$83	
178	5	2,569	88	\$13,335	\$66,675	\$375	\$758	\$26	
178	5	2,569	88	\$1,670	\$8,350	\$47	\$95	\$3	

As with the other analyses, when assessing the cost savings from avoiding fall-related hospitalizations and ED/OP physician visits, the savings are more modest (Table 22).

Table 22. Estimated cost savings for SAIL related to hospitalizations and ED visits.

Inputs							Benefits (Cost Avoidance)				
Sample Size	Falls Avoided	Total # Sessions	Total # Completers	% of Falls Needing Hosp	% of Falls Needing PhysEd	Savings Per Hosp Avoided	Savings Per Phys/ Ed Visit	Total Savings	Savings Per Patient	Savings Per Completer	Savings Per Session Attended
178	16	2,569	88	3.1%	14%	\$31,944	\$3,139	\$22,876	\$129	\$260	\$9
178	5	2,569	88	3.1%	14%	\$31,944	\$3,139	\$7,149	\$40	\$81	\$3
178	16	2,569	88	11.0%	18%	\$31,944	\$3,139	\$65,262	\$367	\$742	\$25
178	5	2,569	88	11.0%	18%	\$31,944	\$3,139	\$20,394	\$115	\$232	\$8

OTHER BENEFITS

Improved Health and Well-Being

Non-monetary benefits are reflected by improvements in self-reported health, well-being, and quality of life and improvement in four domains: general health, fear of falling, concerns about falling, and well-being. Figure 3 shows the increase of participants who rated their general health as "very good" or "excellent."

Figure 3. Self-rated general health among Juniper participants.



Self-Rated General Health

Figure 4 shows the proportion of participants who reported they were "somewhat" or "each of the programs reduced a lot" fearful of falling. As mentioned earlier, the fear of falling can lead to restricted physical and social activity. Therefore, reducing falls can lead to a higher quality of life.





Self-Rated Fear of Falling



Figure 5 shows the increase of participants who rated their well-being as "very good" or "excellent."



Figure 5. Self-rated well-being among Juniper participants by program.

Table 23 shows all Juniper-supported fall prevention programs demonstrate statistically significant improvement in the four domain areas mentioned above. Specifically, 27-34% of participants were less fearful of falling and 20-33% were less concerned with falling across all programs. Between 27-40% of participants rated their well-being higher after attending a Juniper-supported fall prevention program. Three of the improvements from the SAIL program were not statistically significant.

		МОВ	DLT	SO	SAIL
General Health	N*	746	633	421	238
	Better after class	22.3%	25.4%	20.9%	16.0%
	Worse after class	13.0%	11.7%	13.3%	15.1%
	p-value**	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.0028	0.4447
Fear of Falling	N*	744 623		418	236
	Better after class	33.5%	29.4%	27.8%	27.1%
	Worse after class	14.9%	13.0%	17.7%	21.2%
	p-value**	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.0030	0.0564
Concern About Falling	N*	730	629	416	235
	Better after class	31.8%	25.6%	32.9%	19.6%
	Worse after class	18.1%	14.8%	13.5%	17.9%
	p-value**	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.883
Well-Being	N*	717	586	402	230
	Better after class	38.4%	40.3%	39.6%	27.0%
	Worse after class	12.8%	10.8%	10.2%	17.0%
	p-value**	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.01552

Table 23. Changes in self-reported status.

*N in each case represents the number with non-missing information at both time points

**All p-values in this table from the Wilcoxon Signed Rank test
IMPROVED SELF-EFFICACY

Additionally, participants indicated they felt the program(s) they attended were was helpful in many aspects of fall prevention and overall health and quality of life (Figures 6 and 7).

"As a result of this program..."





A Matter of Balance (N=733-746)
 Stepping On (N=243-420)

Tai Ji Quan: Moving for Better Balance (N=596-629)
 Stay Active and Independent for Life (N=233-236)

Figure 7. Juniper-supported falls prevention programs' impact on healthy behaviors.



"This program helped me..."

ALIGNMENT WITH CMS' STAR RATING MEASURES

Finally, it is reasonable to note that each program includes activities which directly align with CMS' Star Rating measures.

In the MOB program, participants learn exercises to improve strength, flexibility, balance and endurance and develop an action plan for exercise outside of class. Action plans are shared with the group to name barriers to exercise and receive solutions from their peers. Prior to exercising during the program, participants are required to sign the Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire (PAR-Q), which prompts them to speak with their healthcare provider prior to exercising. Participants are encouraged to have their medications reviewed by their healthcare provider, encouraged to have their eyes checked to reduce their fall risk, and provided education on how orthostatic blood pressure relates to falls. Thus, the MOB program aligns with the following Star Ratings:

- Monitoring Physical Activity
- Care for Older Adults Medication Review
- Diabetes Care Eye Exam
- Controlling Blood Pressure
- Rheumatoid Arthritis Management
- Reducing the Risk of Falls
- Medication Adherence for Hypertension
- MTM Program for Completion Rate for CMR

Participants in the TJQMBB program sign the PAR-Q, prompting them to speak with their healthcare provider prior to exercising. This program aligns with the following Star Ratings:

- Monitoring Physical Activity
- Controlling Blood Pressure
- Reducing the Risk of Falls



A physical therapist, vision expert, community safety specialist, and pharmacist are guest speakers for Stepping On. To minimize their risk of falling, participants exercise as a group, learn to effectively communicate with their healthcare provider receive tools to review their medications reviewed with their healthcare provider or pharmacist, and encouraged to have their eyes checked. They also sign the PAR-Q, prompting them to speak with their healthcare provider prior to exercising. Thus, Stepping On aligns with the following Star Ratings:

- Monitoring Physical Activity
- Care for Older Adults Medication Review
- Diabetes Care Eye Exam
- Controlling Blood Pressure
- Reducing the Risk of Falls
- Medication Adherence for Hypertension
- MTM Program for Completion Rate for CMR

Participants in the SAIL program are provided with questions to ask their healthcare provider and/or pharmacist and encouraged to have their medications reviewed. and are. They also sign the PAR-Q, prompting them to speak with their healthcare provider prior to exercising. SAIL aligns with the following Star Ratings:

- Monitoring Physical Activity
- Care for Older Adults Medication Review
- Diabetes Care Eye Exam
- Controlling Blood Pressure
- Rheumatoid Arthritis Management
- Reducing the Risk of Falls
- MTM Program Completion Rate for CMR

DISCUSSION

The results of this literature review suggest **overwhelming evidence of the effectiveness of Junipersupported fall prevention programs** to reduce fall risk and quantifies the cost savings associated with avoiding fall-related healthcare utilization. These benefits were seen across studies and among numerous patient populations. Juniper-supported fall-prevention programs are effective across age groups, geographic areas, and differing levels of health and disease burden.

From this cost-savings analysis, significant savings associated with Juniper-supported fall-prevention programs were estimated on an aggregate, per session, per participant, and per completer basis. The extent to which a fall in an older adult can significantly influence their ongoing health status and healthcare utilization makes it not surprising that preventing falls will result in cost savings. The fall reduction observed among Juniper participants should not be discounted. In the MOB program, the percentage of participants experiencing a fall was reduced by over half. This finding is regardless of whether you look at all participants (37.1% at Time 1 to 17.1% at Time 2) or only participants with data at both time points (33% to 15%). Similarly, the average number of falls was 60% lower after program completion. The reductions in falls among participants of TJQMBB were statistically significant, despite low baseline fall rates (21%) compared to the published literature. The Stepping On program observed similar reductions: 34.7% to 16.2% for all participants, 27.1% to 12.9% for participants with data at both time points, and between a 65-70% reduction in the average number of falls.

Finally, **cost savings were sizable even when using conservative estimates of the associated cost avoided per fall avoided.** This suggests significant improvements in fall rates in these real-world cohorts from Juniper-supported fall prevention programs play a meaningful role in the overall cost savings; these savings are not simply a function of random fluctuation in participant falls.

RECOMMENDATIONS

The information presented here suggests that there **exists significant benefit and value from fallprevention programs for older adults, regardless of their current mobility or level of physical functioning.** In addition to increasing strength and balance, there is evidence that these programs could reduce the fear of falling, increase physical activity, slow or reverse the progression of frailty and cognitive decline, and improve social and emotional well-being by reducing social isolation and loneliness.

In an effort to expand on the self-reported data, Juniper recently attempted to leverage Medicare Advantage claims data to explore patterns of fall-related claims before and after the start of Juniper classes. Unfortunately, those data included a low frequency of falls prior to class initiation for the identified cohort, and therefore no significant reduction after the start of the class was demonstrated. We suspect this is due to the fact that participation in Juniper programs is not limited to high fall-risk individuals, but instead reflects a variety of mobility and levels of physical functioning. Given the high participant satisfaction with the program, we hypothesize that many participants experience several of the additional benefits mentioned above, beyond the improvements in strength and balance they may have developed. That is, their high net promoter score may reflect general improvements in functioning (e.g., reducing any early indications of physical decline towards frailty), self-confidence, and self-actualization, and reductions in the fear of falling and experiences of social isolation or loneliness. Such information can be obtained from their responses to Juniper's questionnaires but are not available from claims.

Healthcare claims data are useful sources of information for identifying health outcomes and care utilization patterns. However, claims-based estimates of falls and fall-related injuries vary greatly depending on which codes are used,^{2,111} (there is no existing standard) and obviously are limited to falls that result in a health encounter. We have shown in this review that only a fraction of falls result in injury (that presumably require medical attention), but falls of any type (injurious or non-injurious) are predictive of future falls^{13,15} and may reflect a decline in physical functioning.²⁸ Therefore, while healthcare claims data can be useful in identifying some aspects of falls, these data should be complemented with other sources of information, such as patient-reported outcomes, clinical assessments, and observational studies, to provide a more comprehensive understanding of falls in healthcare settings.

While self-reported fall data can substantially underestimate the true fall rate,¹¹² such data are often effective in identifying who would benefit the most from fall prevention strategies. A 2022 study identified just two questions ("I feel unsteady with walking" and "I need my arms to stand from a chair") that successfully identified high fall-risk individuals.¹¹³ Additionally, patient-reported data captures beliefs, opinions, and perceptions that are not available in claims. For example, a fear of falling has been shown to be associated with a reduction in social and physical activities,¹³ and is not available from claims. Patient- or clinician-collected measures of gait, balance, and walking speed are also unavailable from claims but are often predictive of falls in older adults generally,^{114,115} as well as in specialty populations, such as those with Parkinson's disease.¹¹⁶ Juniper's dataset of participant-reported data provides extensive information unavailable in medical claims. These data can supplement existing quality measures and allow for insights into changes in perception, beliefs, and even behavior. Pre and post surveys are obtained from participants in all classes; such ongoing data collection ensures that the most current participant information is available at all times.

CONCLUSION

Evidence from Juniper participants suggests **these fall prevention programs produce significant cost savings, even when conservative estimates are used.** These results are consistent with previous research and economic studies that have consistently concluded that fall prevention results in healthcare cost savings for older adults. Additionally, patients express high levels of satisfaction in the programs and indicate reductions in perceptions of balance and likelihood of falling.

Given the increased focus on fall-prevention and wellness programs from The Joint Commission, NCQA, and CMS, these programs may fill a significant need for care delivery systems and health plans alike. Additionally, self-reported data from Juniper course participants provides insights into patient perspectives and perceptions, and yields information unavailable in claims data.

APPENDIX A. ADDITIONAL TABLES

A 1. Fall rates from published literature.

Percent Who Fall Per Year						
Source	Patient Group	Age < 65	Age 65+	Age 70+	Age 75+	Age 80+
Miller (2011)	Ages 50-64	20%				
WHO (2007)	Ages 65+		28%			
WHO (2007)	Ages 65+		35%			
Voukelatos (2007)	Ages 60+		41%			
Voukelatos (2007)	Ages 60+		49%			
Hopewell (2018)	Mean age 62-84		47.2%			
Wu (2010)	Ages 65-74		30%			
Miller (2011)	Ages 65+		33%			
Laing (2011)	Ages 65+		48%			
Carande-Kulis (2015)	Ages 65+		30%			
Florence (2018)	Ages 65+		24%			
Li (2016)	Ages 65+		34%			
Garbin (2023)	Ages 65+		32.7%			
WHO (2007)	Ages 70+			32%		
WHO (2007)	Ages 70+			42%		
Choi (2023)	Ages 70+			29.6% to 34.1%		
Wu (2010)	Ages 75+				37.50%	
Rikkonen (2023)	Ages 75+				59.7%	
Franklin (2019)	Ages 75-89				47.30%	
Carande-Kulis (2015)	Ages 80+					50%
Average		20%	35%	37%	42%	50%
Low		20%	24%	32%	38%	50%
High		20%	49%	42%	47%	50%

Fall Rates, Intervals <1 Year						
Source	Patient Group	Age < 65	Age 65+	Age 70+	Age 75+	Age 80+
Shumway-Cook (2007)	Ages 65+ per 3 months		27%			
Li (2005)	Ages 70+ per 3 months			31%		
Li (2005)	Ages 70+ per 3 months			42%		
Li (2013)	Ages 65+ per 3 months		58%			
Li (2014)	Ages 65+ per 6 months		51%			
Zijlstra (2009)	Ages 70+ per 6 months			55%		
Chen (2015)	Ages 60+ per 2 months	29% - 33%				
Smith (2014)	(women) per 1 month	21%				
Smith (2010)	(women) per 1 month	22%				
Repeat Falls						
Source	Patient Group	Age < 65	Age 65+	Age 70+	Age 75+	Age 80+
Florence (2018)	Ages 65+ per year		49%			
Li (2019)	Ages 70+ per 6 months			72%		
Choi (2023)	Ages 70+ with 1+ falls in 2 years after a fall			68.5%		
Chen (2015)	Ages 60+ with 2+ falls per 2months	9%				
Zijlstra (2009)	Ages 70+ with 2+ falls per 6 months			34-37%		
Zijlstra (2009)	Ages 70+ with 2+ falls			51-66%		numbers in ple 1)
Li (2014)	Ages 65+ with 2+ falls per 6 months		24.8%			
Li (2013)	Ages 65+ with 2+ falls per 3 months		13.0%			
Average # of Falls Per 6 Months						
Source	Patient Group	Age < 65	Age 65+	Age 70+	Age 75+	Age 80+
Mahoney (2020)	Ages 65+		0.7 to 1.2			
Ford (2017)	Ages 60+	0.87				
Isaranuwatchal (2017)	Ages 75-84				1.0-1.1	
Isaranuwatchal (2017)	Ages 85+					2.3-2.6



Average # of ED-worthy Falls						
Source	Patient Group	Age < 65	Age 65+	Age 70+	Age 75+	Age 80+
Ford (2017)	Ages 60+	0.07				
Ford (2017)	Ages 60+	0.028				
Percent of Falls Resulting in Care Utilization						
Source	Patient Group	Age < 65	Age 65+	Age 70+	Age 75+	Age 80+
Miller (2011)	Ages 65+ (Hospitalization)		3.1 - 4.7%			
Voukelatos (2007)	Ages 60+ (Medical Attention)	40 - 47%				
Carande-Kulis (2015)	Ages 65+ (Medical Attention)		33.40%			
Mahoney (2020)	Ages 65+ (ED/OP physician visit)		14-18%			
Bohl (2010)	Ages 65+ (Hospitalization)		11%			
Hopewell (2018)	Mean age 62-85 (Hospitalization)		267 per 1000 pts			
Hopewell (2018)	Mean age 62-85 (Other Medical Attention)		126 per 1000 pts			
Rikkonen (2023)	Ages 75+ (Medical Attention)				13.3%	

A 2. Estimated cost of falls from published literature.

					C	Converted	to 2022 l	JSD	
Source	USD Year	Units	Туре	Total	Hospital	ED	NH	Incremental	OP
Rizzo (1998)	1996	per event	Injurious	\$33,819	\$19,209		\$9,264		
Roudsari (2005)	2004	per event	Injurious		\$26,217				
Heinrich (2010), Low	2006	per event	All		\$14,176	\$354			\$619
Heinrich (2010), High	2006	per event	All	\$15,390	\$60,417	\$1,231			\$619
Bohl (2010) (quarterly)	2006	per event requiring med care	All	\$42,362					
Wu (2010), age 65-74	2008	per event vs non-fallers	Recurrent					\$14,262	
Wu (2010), age 75+	2008	per event vs non-fallers	Recurrent					\$17,828	
Miller (2011)	2009	per fall requiring hospitalization	All	\$53,862	\$34,143				
Miller (2011)	2009	per fall avoided (low)	All	\$1,670					
Miller (2011)	2009	per fall avoided (high risk individuals)	All	\$3,852					
Wong (2011)	2006	per fall event vs individuals with no fall history	In- hospital					\$18,779	
Howland (2015)	2013	per event	Injurious		\$31,835	\$3,529			
Carande- Kulis (2015)	2012	per event	All	\$14,633					
Burns (2016)	2012	per event	Fatal						
Burns (2016)	2012	per event	non-fatal	\$12,039	\$37,610	\$5,945			\$7,156

Impr	ovements related ev	in falls and /ents					
					Observed	Absolute Change	Relative Risk
МОВ	Chan	Ages 65+, mean age = 79 (MOB) and 75 (control)	per 2 months	% of MOB group falling per 2 months	15/45 (33%) to 4/35 (11%)	22%	0.333333333
			per 2 months	% of MOB group w/ 2+ falls per 2 months	8.9% to 2.9%	6%	0.325842697
			per 2 months	Ave number of falls per 2 months	19/45 (.42) to 3/35 (.14)	0.28	0.3333333333
			per 2 months	Likelihood vs Control Group	84% less likely to report fall		0.16
	Ghimire (2015)	Ages 65+, mean age = 80	per year	reduction in unplanned hospitalizations per year	0.05 per person per year (0.03, 0.07)	0.05	
			per year	Increase in office visits per year	0.43 per person per year (0.29, 0.56)	0.43	
			per year	Increase in physical therapy visits per year	0.5 per person per year 0.2, 0.8)	0.5	
	Zijlstra (2009)	Ages 70+	per 14 months	Odds ratio for falls at 14 months	0.5 (0.23-1.08)		0.5
			per 14 months	Odds ratio for recurrent falls at 14 months	0.38 (0.17-0.84)		0.38
	Smith (2014)	women, mean age = 76	per 30 days	Ave number of falls per 30 days prior	All: 0.34 to 0.22; age < 75: 0.37 to 0.25; age 75+: 0.32 to 0.20	0.12	0.647058824
	Smith (2010)	women, mean age = 76	per 30 days	Average number of falls per 30 days prior	All: 0.35 to 0.23	0.12	0.657142857
	Mazza (2021)	Ages 60+	Pre (3 mths prior to class) to post (since start of class)	Number of falls	1178 to 669	62%	
				Number of falls with injury	432 to 112	47%	

A 3. Improvements in falls and related events from fall-prevention programs.

Impr	ovements related ev	in falls and vents					
					Observed	Absolute Change	Relative Risk
tjq- MBB	Li (2005)	Ages 70+	per 6 months	% of TJQ group falling baseline and at 6 months	42% to 28%	14%	0.66666666
			per 6 months	% with Injurious falls	19% to 7%	12%	0.368421053
			per 6 months	% receiving medical attention from fall	12% to 5%	7%	0.416666667
			per 6 months	Any 6-month fall vs control group	28% vs 46%	18%	0.608695652
			per 6 months	2+ falls vs control group	7.4% vs 22.6%	15%	0.327433628
			per 6 months	Ave num falls vs control group	0.4 vs 0.78	0.38	0.512820513
			per 6 months	Injurious falls vs control group	7% vs 18%	11%	0.38888888
			per 6 months	Medical Attention vs control group	5% vs 15%	10%	0.333333333
			per 6 months	Risk of multiple falls			0.45
	Li (2015)	Ages 40 to 85 with Parkinson's	per 9 months	% with falls over 9 months vs resistance group	33.8% vs 49.2%	15%	0.68699187
			per 9 months	% with falls over 9 months vs stretching group	33.8% vs 56.9%	23%	0.59402460
			per 9 months	Average number of falls vs resistance group	1.33 vs 2.65	1.32	0.501886792
			per 9 months	Average number of falls vs stretching group	1.33 vs 4.11	2.78	0.323600973
			per 9 months	Fall incidence rate vs resistance group	12 vs 23 per 100 person-months	11	0.52173913

Impr	rovements related ev	in falls and vents					
					Observed	Absolute Change	Relative Risk
tjq- MBB			per 9 months	Fall incidence rate vs stretching group	12 vs 38 per 100 person-months	26	0.315789474
	Li (2018)	Ages 70+ with fall in last 12 months	per 6 months	Average number of falls over 24 wks vs multimodal exercise	0.68 vs 0.98	0.3	0.693877551
			per 6 months	Average number of falls over 24 wks vs stretching group	0.68 vs 1.63	0.95	0.417177914
			per 6 months	1+ falls vs multimodal exercise group	37.9% vs 50.0%	12.1%	0.758
			per 6 months	1+ falls vs stretching group	37.9% vs 57.0%	19.1%	0.664912281
			per 6 months	2+ falls vs multimodal exercise group	13.4% vs 19.7%	6.3%	0.680203046
			per 6 months	2+ falls vs stretching group	13.4% vs 29.1%	15.7%	0.4604811
			per 6 months	Average number of injurious falls vs multimodal group	0.43 vs 0.55	0.12	0.781818182
			per 6 months	Average number of injurious falls vs stretching group	0.43 vs 0.81	0.38	0.530864198
	Li (2019)	Ages 70+, high-risk of falling because they had fallen in the past year or had impaired mobility	per patient- month	Fall incidence rate of moderate injurious falls vs multimodal	47.9 vs 56.5	8.6	0.847787611

Impr	ovements related ev	in falls and vents					
					Observed	Absolute Change	Relative Risk
tjq- MBB			per patient- month	Fall incidence rate of moderate injurious falls vs stretching	47.9 vs 89.9	42	0.532814238
			per patient- month	Fall incidence rate of serious injurious falls vs multimodal group	5.6 vs 12.2	6.6	0.459016393
			per patient- month	Fall incidence rate of serious injurious falls vs stretching group	5.6 vs 21.3	15.7	0.262910798
			per 1000 patient- months	Injury-related ED visits vs multimodal group	3.8 vs 8.1	4.3	0.469135802
			per 1000 patient- months	Injury-related ED visits vs stretching group	3.8 vs 14.3	10.5	0.265734266
			per 1000 patient- months	Fall-related hospitalizations vs multimodal group	1.9 vs 4.2	2.3	0.452380952
			per 1000 patient- months	Fall-related hospitalizations vs stretching group	1.9 vs 7.0	5.1	0.271428571
	Li (2016)	Ages 65+ who reported fall at baseline	per year	Of those who reported fall at baseline, those with no fall during 12-month follow-up	141 of 263	54%	
		Ages 65+		Number of falls	327 fewer	49%	
	Li (2013)	Ages 65+ who reported fall at baseline	per 6 months	Of those who reported fall at baseline, those with no fall during 6-month follow-up	127 of 221	58%	
		Ages 65+		Fall rate improvement	58% to 31%	0.27	0.534482759

Stepping	g On					
				Observed	Absolute Change	Relative Risk
Clemson (2004)	Ages 70+ with a fall in previous 12 months		Fall reduction			RR = 0.69 (.50 .96)
Guse (2015)	Ages 65+		IRR for IP and ED discharges for falls vs control group			0.916 (.878, .954) and 0.911 (.844, .940)
Mahoney (2020)	Ages 65+	per 6 months	Fall reduction, first 6 months (rate ratio)			0.62 (.57, .68)
		per 6 months	Fall reduction, second 6 months (rate ratio)			0.72 (.65, .80
Ford (2017)	Ages 65+	per 6 months	Average number of falls vs baseline	0.87 to 0.45	0.429	0.517241379
			Average number of ED visits vs baseline	0.07 to 0.02	0.05	0.285714286
			Average number of hospitalizations vs baseline	0.02 to 0.01 (p=NS)	0.01	0.5
			Average number of hospital days vs baseline	0.21 vs 0.06 (p=NS)	0.15	0.285714286

SAIL

				Observed	Absolute Change	Relative Risk
Shur way	Ages 65+	Incident fall rate vs control group	1.33 vs 1.77 per person-year	0.44	0.751412429	RR = 0.69 (.50, .96)
		% with any fall	55% vs 57%	2%	0.964912281	

REFERENCES

- 1 Carande-Kulis V, Stevens JA, Florence CS, Beattie BL, Arias I. A cost-benefit analysis of three older adult fall prevention interventions. *J Safety Res.* Feb 2015;52:65-70.
- 2 Florence CS, Bergen G, Atherly A, Burns E, Stevens J, Drake C. Medical Costs of Fatal and Nonfatal Falls in Older Adults. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* Apr 2018;66(4):693-698.
- 3 Laing SS, Silver IF, York S, Phelan EA. Fall prevention knowledge, attitude, and practices of community stakeholders and older adults. *J Aging Res.* 2011;2011:395357.
- 4 Li F, Harmer P, Fitzgerald K. Implementing an Evidence-Based Fall Prevention Intervention in Community Senior Centers. *Am J Public Health.* Nov 2016;106(11):2026-2031.
- 5 Miller TR, Dickerson JB, Smith ML, Ory MG. Assessing Costs and Potential Returns of Evidence-Based Programs for Seniors. *Evaluation & the Health Professions.* 2011;34:201-225
- 6 Voukelatos A, Cumming RG, Lord SR, Rissel C. A randomized, controlled trial of tai chi for the prevention of falls: the Central Sydney tai chi trial. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* Aug 2007;55(8):1185-1191.
- 7 World Health Organization. WHO Global Report on Falls Prevention in Older Age. 2007; https://www.who.int/ageing/publications/Falls_prevention7March.pdf. Accessed 06 Aug 2020.
- 8 Wu S, Keeler EB, Rubenstein LZ, Maglione MA, Shekelle PG. A cost-effectiveness analysis of a proposed national falls prevention program. *Clin Geriatr Med.* Nov 2010;26(4):751-766.
- 9 Bohl AA, Fishman PA, Ciol MA, Williams B, Logerfo J, Phelan EA. A longitudinal analysis of total 3-year healthcare costs for older adults who experience a fall requiring medical care. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* May 2010;58(5):853-860.
- 10 Mahoney JE, Gangnon R, Clemson L, Jaros L, Cech S, Renken J. Outcomes associated with scale-up of the Stepping On falls prevention program: A case study in redesigning for dissemination. *J Clin Transl Sci.* Mar 4 2020;4(3):250-259.
- 11 Burns ER, Stevens JA, Lee R. The direct costs of fatal and non-fatal falls among older adults - United States. *J Safety Res.* Sep 2016;58:99-103.
- 12 Heinrich S, Rapp K, Rissmann U, Becker C, Konig HH. Cost of falls in old age: a systematic review. *Osteoporos Int.* Jun 2010;21(6):891-902.
- 13 National Council for Aging Care. Fact Sheet: Falls the biggest threat to senior health and safety. <u>https://aging.com/falls-fact-sheet/</u>. Accessed 06 Aug 2020.
- 14 Nitz JC, Stock L, Khan A. Health-related predictors of falls and fractures in women over 40. *Osteoporos Int.* Feb 2013;24(2):613-621.
- 15 The Centers for Disease Control. Important Facts About Falls. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/</u> <u>homeandrecreationalsafety/falls/adultfalls.html</u>. Accessed 06 Aug 2020.
- 16 Basic D, Hartwell TJ. Falls in hospital and new placement in a nursing home among older people hospitalized with acute illness. *Clin Interv Aging.* 2015;10:1637-1643.



- 17 Wong CA, Recktenwald AJ, Jones ML, Waterman BM, Bollini ML, Dunagan WC. The cost of serious fall-related injuries at three Midwestern hospitals. *Jt Comm J Qual Patient Saf.* Feb 2011;37(2):81-87.
- 18 Zecevic AA, Chesworth BM, Zaric GS, et al. Estimating the cost of serious injurious falls in a Canadian acute care hospital. *Can J Aging.* Jun 2012;31(2):139-147.
- 19 Aditya BS, Sharma JC, Allen SC, Vassallo M. Predictors of a nursing home placement from a non-acute geriatric hospital. *Clin Rehabil.* Feb 2003;17(1):108-113.
- 20 Maxwell CJ, Soo A, Hogan DB, et al. Predictors of Nursing Home Placement from Assisted Living Settings in Canada. *Can J Aging.* Dec 2013;32(4):333-348.
- 21 Spoelstra SL, Given B, You M, Given CW. The contribution falls have to increasing risk of nursing home placement in community-dwelling older adults. *Clin Nurs Res.* Feb 2012;21(1):24-42.
- 22 Genworth. Cost of Care Survey. 2020; <u>https://www.genworth.com/aging-and-you/finances/cost-of-care.</u> <u>html</u>. Accessed 15 Sep 2020.
- 23 Oliveira MR, Sudati IP, Konzen VM, et al. Covid-19 and the impact on the physical activity level of elderly people: A systematic review. *Exp Gerontol.* Mar 2022;159:111675.
- 24 Wunsch K, Kienberger K, Niessner C. Changes in Physical Activity Patterns Due to the Covid-19 Pandemic: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* Feb 16 2022;19(4).
- 25 Felipe SGB, Parreira Batista P, da Silva CCR, de Melo RC, de Assumpção D, Perracini MR. Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on mobility of older adults: A scoping review. *Int J Older People Nurs.* Jan 2023;18(1):e12496.
- 26 Creese B, Khan Z, Henley W, et al. Loneliness, physical activity, and mental health during COVID-19: a longitudinal analysis of depression and anxiety in adults over the age of 50 between 2015 and 2020. *Int Psychogeriatr.* May 2021;33(5):505-514.
- 27 Damluji AA, Chung SE, Xue QL, et al. Frailty and cardiovascular outcomes in the National Health and Aging Trends Study. *Eur Heart J.* Oct 1 2021;42(37):3856-3865.
- 28 Wu S, Mulcahy J, Kasper JD, Kan HJ, Weiner JP. Comparing Survey-Based Frailty Assessment to Medicare Claims in Predicting Health Outcomes and Utilization in Medicare Beneficiaries. *J Aging Health.* Aug-Sep 2020;32(7-8):764-777.
- 29 Moreira NB, Rodacki ALF, Pereira G, Bento PCB. Does functional capacity, fall risk awareness and physical activity level predict falls in older adults in different age groups? *Arch Gerontol Geriatr.* Jul-Aug 2018;77:57-63.
- 30 Seamon BA, Simpson KN. The Effect of Frailty on Discharge Location for Medicare Beneficiaries After Acute Stroke. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* Jul 2019;100(7):1317-1323.
- 31 Comans TA, Peel NM, Hubbard RE, Mulligan AD, Gray LC, Scuffham PA. The increase in healthcare costs associated with frailty in older people discharged to a post-acute transition care program. *Age Ageing.* Mar 2016;45(2):317-320.

- 32 Hajek A, Bock JO, Saum KU, et al. Frailty and healthcare costs-longitudinal results of a prospective cohort study. *Age Ageing.* Mar 1 2018;47(2):233-241.
- 33 de Souza LF, Canever JB, Moreira BS, Danielewicz AL, de Avelar NCP. Association Between Fear of Falling and Frailty in Community-Dwelling Older Adults: A Systematic Review. *Clin Interv Aging.* 2022;17:129-140.
- 34 Gómez-Gómez ME, Zapico SC. Frailty, Cognitive Decline, Neurodegenerative Diseases and Nutrition Interventions. *Int J Mol Sci.* Jun 11 2019;20(11).
- 35 Li F, Harmer P. Prevalence of Falls, Physical Performance, and Dual-Task Cost While Walking in Older Adults at High Risk of Falling with and Without Cognitive Impairment. *Clin Interv Aging.* 2020;15:945-952.
- 36 de Labra C, Guimaraes-Pinheiro C, Maseda A, Lorenzo T, Millán-Calenti JC. Effects of physical exercise interventions in frail older adults: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. *BMC Geriatr.* Dec 2 2015;15:154.
- 37 Haider S, Grabovac I, Dorner TE. Effects of physical activity interventions in frail and prefrail community-dwelling people on frailty status, muscle strength, physical performance and muscle mass-a narrative review. *Wien Klin Wochenschr.* Jun 2019;131(11-12):244-254.
- 38 Global, regional, and national burden of diseases and injuries for adults 70 years and older: systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease 2019 Study. *Bmj.* Mar 10 2022;376:e068208.
- 39 Murthy VH. *Together: The Healing Power of Human Connection in a Sometimes Lonely World.* New York, NY: HarperCollins Publishers; 2020.
- 40 Piette J. Loneliness Among Older Adults Before and During the COVID-19 Pandemic. 2020; https://www.healthyagingpoll.org/report/loneliness-among-older-adults-and-during-covid-19-pandemic. Accessed 25 June 2023.
- 41 Mosen DM, Banegas MP, Friedman N, Shuster E, Brooks N. Food Insecurity Associated with Self-Reported Falls Among Medicare Advantage Members. *Popul Health Manag.* Dec 2019;22(6):536-539.
- 42 Liu H, Hu T. Impact of socioeconomic status and health risk on fall inequality among older adults. *Health Soc Care Community.* Nov 2022;30(6):e4961-e4974.
- 43 Garbin AJ, Fisher BE. The Interplay Between Fear of Falling, Balance Performance, and Future Falls: Data From the National Health and Aging Trends Study. *J Geriatr Phys Ther.* Apr-Jun 01 2023;46(2):110-115.
- 44 Singh T, Bélanger E, Thomas K. Is Fear of Falling the Missing Link to Explain Racial Disparities in Fall Risk? Data from the National Health and Aging Trends Study. *Clin Gerontol.* Jul-Sep 2020;43(4):465-470.
- 45 Chen TY, Kim G. Racial/Ethnic Differences in the Longitudinal Effects of Fear of Falling on Falls. *Gerontology.* 2021;67(4):482-492.
- 46 Washington SE, Snyder M, Hu YL, Stark SL. Evaluation of race as a predictor of fear of falling in Black older adults. *Clin Gerontol.* Jan-Feb 2023;46(1):47-52.



- Gottlieb LM, DeSilvey SC, Fichtenberg C, Bernheim S, Peltz A. Developing National Social Care Standards. 2023; <u>https://www.healthaffairs.org/content/forefront/developing-national-social-care-standards</u>. Accessed 25 June 2023.
- 48 The Joint Commission. R3 Report, Requirement, Rationale, Reference: New Requirements to Reduce Health Care Disparities. 2022; <u>https://www.jointcommission.org/-/media/tjc/documents/standards/</u> <u>r3-reports/r3_disparities_july2022-6-20-2022.pdf</u>. Accessed 25 June 2023.
- 49 Reynolds A, Thompson K, Paliani S. The Future of HEDIS(R): Health Equity. 2022; <u>https://www.ncqa.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/FOH-Using-HEDIS-to-Improve-Health-Equity-Oct-6-2022.pdf</u>. Accessed 25 June 2023.
- 50 National Committee for Quality Assurance (NCQA). Required HEDIS (R) and CAHPS (R) Measures for HEDIS Reporting Year 2020. 2020; <u>https://www.ncqa.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/20200206_List_of_Required_Performance_Measures.pdf</u>. Accessed 09 May 2023.
- 51 National Committee for Quality Assurance (NCQA). HEDIS 2022 Measure Descriptions. 2023; https://www.ncqa.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/12/HEDIS-MY-2022-Measure-Descriptions.pdf. Accessed 09 May 2023.
- 52 National Committee for Quality Assurance (NCQA). NCQA Health Plan Ratings vs. Medicare Part C and D Star Ratings Methodology FAQ. 2021; <u>https://www.ncqa.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/20210713_NCQA_HPR_vs_CMS_Stars_FAQ.pdf</u>. Accessed 09 May 2023.
- 53 The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. 2023 Medicare Star Ratings Fact Sheet. 2023; https://www.cms.gov/files/document/2023-medicare-star-ratings-fact-sheet.pdf. Accessed 09 May 2023.
- 54 Liu-Ambrose T, Davis JC, Best JR, et al. Effect of a Home-Based Exercise Program on Subsequent Falls Among Community-Dwelling High-Risk Older Adults After a Fall: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA. Jun 4 2019;321(21):2092-2100.
- 55 Choi NG, Marti CN, Choi BY, Kunik MM. Recurrent Falls over Three Years among Older Adults Age 70+: Associations with Physical and Mental Health Status, Exercise, and Hospital Stay. *J Appl Gerontol.* May 2023;42(5):1089-1100.
- 56 Rikkonen T, Sund R, Koivumaa-Honkanen H, Sirola J, Honkanen R, Kröger H. Effectiveness of exercise on fall prevention in community-dwelling older adults: a 2-year randomized controlled study of 914 women. *Age Ageing.* Apr 1 2023;52(4).
- 57 Franklin M, Hunter RM. A modelling-based economic evaluation of primary-care-based fall-risk screening followed by fall-prevention intervention: a cohort-based Markov model stratified by older age groups. *Age Ageing.* Dec 1 2019;49(1):57-66.
- 58 Shumway-Cook A, Silver IF, LeMier M, York S, Cummings P, Koepsell TD. Effectiveness of a community-based multifactorial intervention on falls and fall risk factors in communityliving older adults: a randomized, controlled trial. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* Dec 2007;62(12):1420-1427.
- 59 Li F, Harmer P, Fisher KJ, et al. Tai Chi and fall reductions in older adults: a randomized controlled trial. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* Feb 2005;60(2):187-194.

- 60 Li F, Harmer P, Stock R, et al. Implementing an evidence-based fall prevention program in an outpatient clinical setting. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* Dec 2013;61(12):2142-2149.
- 61 Li F. The effects of Tai Ji Quan training on limits of stability in older adults. *Clin Interv Aging.* 2014;9:1261-1268.
- 62 Ford JH, 2nd, Abramson B, Wise M, Dattalo M, Mahoney JE. Bringing Healthy Aging to Scale: A Randomized Trial of a Quality Improvement Intervention to Increase Adoption of Evidence-Based Health Promotion Programs by Community Partners. *J Public Health Manag Pract.* Sep/ Oct 2017;23(5):e17-e24.
- 63 Isaranuwatchai W, Perdrizet J, Markle-Reid M, Hoch JS. Cost-effectiveness analysis of a multifactorial fall prevention intervention in older home care clients at risk for falling. *BMC Geriatr.* Sep 1 2017;17(1):199.
- 64 Zijlstra GAR, Van Haastregt JCM, Ambergen T, et al. Effects of a Multicomponent Cognitive Behavioral Group Intervention on Fear of Falling and Activity Avoidance in Community-Dwelling Older Adults: Results of a Randomized Controlled Trial. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society.* 2009;57:2020-2028.
- 65 Smith ML, Ory MG, Larsen R. Older Women in a State-Wide, Evidence-Based Falls Prevention Program: Who Enrolls and What Benefits Are Obtained? *Women's Health Issues.* 2010;20:427-434.
- 66 Smith ML, Jiang L, Prizer LP, et al. Health Indicators Associated with Falls Among Middleaged and Older Women Enrolled in an Evidence-Based Program. *Women's Health Issues.* 2014;24:613-619.
- 67 Spetz J, Brown DS, Aydin C. The economics of preventing hospital falls: demonstrating ROI through a simple model. *J Nurs Adm.* Jan 2015;45(1):50-57.
- 68 Howland J, Shankar KN, Peterson EW, Taylor AA. Savings in acute care costs if all older adults treated for fall-related injuries completed matter of balance. *Inj Epidemiol.* 2015;2(1):25.
- 69 Chen T-Y, Edwards JD, Janke MC. The Effects of the A Matter of Balance Program on Falls and Physical Risk of Falls, Tampa, Florida, 2013. *Preventing chronic disease*. 2015;12:E157.
- 70 Hopewell S, Adedire O, Copsey BJ, et al. Multifactorial and multiple component interventions for preventing falls in older people living in the community. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* Jul 23 2018;7(7):Cd012221.
- 71 Li F, Harmer P, Eckstrom E, Fitzgerald K, Chou LS, Liu Y. Effectiveness of Tai Ji Quan vs Multimodal and Stretching Exercise Interventions for Reducing Injurious Falls in Older Adults at High Risk of Falling: Follow-up Analysis of a Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Netw Open. Feb 1 2019;2(2):e188280.
- 72 Sherrington C, Michaleff ZA, Fairhall N, et al. Exercise to prevent falls in older adults: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis. *Br J Sports Med.* Dec 2017;51(24):1750-1758.
- 73 Report to Congress: The Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services' Evaluation of Communitybased Wellness and Prevention Programs Under Section 4202 (b) of the Affordable Care act.



- 74 Tennstedt S, Howland J, Lachman M, Peterson E, Kasten L, Jette A. A Randomized, Controlled Trial of a Group Intervention To Reduce Fear of Falling and Associated Activity Restriction in Older Adults. *Journal of Gerontology: PSYCHOLOGICAL SCIENCES.* 1998;53:384-392.
- **75** van Haastregt JCM, Zijlstra GAR, Hendriks MRC, Goossens MEJB, van Eijk JTM, Kempen GIJM. Cost-effectiveness of an Intervention to Reduce Fear of Falling. *International Journal of Technology Assessment in Health Care.* 2013;29(3):219-226.
- **76** Zijlstra GA, van Haastregt JC, van Eijk JT, de Witte LP, Ambergen T, Kempen GI. Mediating effects of psychosocial factors on concerns about falling and daily activity in a multicomponent cognitive behavioral group intervention. *Aging Ment Health.* Jan 2011;15(1):68-77.
- 77 Rizzo JA, Friedkin R, Williams CS, Nabors J, Acampora D, Tinetti ME. Health care utilization and costs in a Medicare population by fall status. *Med Care.* Aug 1998;36(8):1174-1188.
- **78** Roudsari BS, Ebel BE, Corso PS, Molinari NA, Koepsell TD. The acute medical care costs of fall-related injuries among the U.S. older adults. *Injury*. Nov 2005;36(11):1316-1322.
- **79** World Health Organization. Step safely: strategies for preventing and managing falls across the life-course. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021.
- **80** Dautzenberg L, Beglinger S, Tsokani S, et al. Interventions for preventing falls and fall-related fractures in community-dwelling older adults: A systematic review and network meta-analysis. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* Oct 2021;69(10):2973-2984.
- **81** Caristia S, Campani D, Cannici C, et al. Physical exercise and fall prevention: A systematic review and meta-analysis of experimental studies included in Cochrane reviews. *Geriatr Nurs.* Nov-Dec 2021;42(6):1275-1286.
- 82 Wiedenmann T, Held S, Rappelt L, Grauduszus M, Spickermann S, Donath L. Exercise based reduction of falls in communitydwelling older adults: a network meta-analysis. *Eur Rev Aging Phys Act.* Jan 28 2023;20(1):1.
- **83** Winser SJ, Chan HTF, Ho L, et al. Dosage for cost-effective exercise-based falls prevention programs for older people: A systematic review of economic evaluations. *Ann Phys Rehabil Med.* Jan 2020;63(1):69-80.
- **84** Pinheiro MB, Sherrington C, Howard K, et al. Economic evaluations of fall prevention exercise programs: a systematic review. *Br J Sports Med.* Dec 2022;56(23):1353-1365.
- **85** Ghimire E, Colligan EM, Howell B, et al. Effects of a Community-Based Fall Management Program on Medicare Cost Savings. *Am J Prev Med.* Dec 2015;49(6):e109-116.
- **86** Mazza NZ, Bailey E, Lanou AJ, Miller N. A Statewide Approach to Falls Prevention: Widespread Implementation of A Matter of Balance in North Carolina, 2014-2019. *J Appl Gerontol.* Nov 2021;40(11):1447-1454.
- **87** Alexander JL, Sartor-Glittenberg C, Bordenave E, Bordenave L. Effect of the Matter of Balance Program on Balance Confidence in Older Adults. *GeroPsych.* 2015/12/01 2015;28(4):183-189.

- **88** Smith ML, Ahn S, Mier N, Jiang L, Ory MG. An Evidence-Based Program to Reduce Fall-Related Risk Among Older Adults: A Comparison of Program Efficacy by Ethnicity. *Californian Journal of Health Promotion.* 2012;10:28-44.
- **89** Smith ML, Ahn SN, Sharkey JR, Horel S, Mier N, Ory MG. Successful Falls Prevention Programming for Older Adults in Texas: Rural–Urban Variations. *Journal of Applied Gerontology Smith et al.Journal of Applied Gerontology*. 2012;31:3-27.
- **90** Smith ML, Hochhalter AK, Cheng Y, Wang S, Ory MG. Programmatic influences on outcomes of an evidence-based fall prevention program for older adults: a translational assessment. *Translational Behavioral Medicine.* 2011;1:384-393.
- **91** Smith ML, Jiang L, Ory MG. Falls Efficacy Among Older Adults Enrolled in an Evidence-Based Program to Reduce Fall-Related Risk: Sustainability of Individual Benefits Over Time. *Family & Community Health.* 2012;35:256-263.
- **92** Smith ML, Quinn C, Gipson R, Wilson A, Ory M. Serving Rural Communities for Falls Prevention: The Dissemination of A Matter of Balance in the Brazos Valley Region of Texas. *Texas Public Health Association Journal.* 2011;63:54-58.
- **93** Cho J, Smith ML, Ahn S, Kim K, Appiah B, Ory MG. Effects of an evidence-based falls risk-reduction program on physical activity and falls efficacy among oldest-old adults. *Frontiers in Public Health.* 2015-April-27 2015;2(182).
- **94** Smith ML, Ory MG, Ahn S, Bazzarre TL, Resnick B. Older Adults' Participation in a Community-Based Falls Prevention Exercise Program: Relationships Between the EASY Tool, Program Attendance, and Health Outcomes. *The Gerontologist.* 2011;51:809-821.
- **95** Gillespie LD, Robertson MC, Gillespie WJ, et al. Interventions for preventing falls in older people living in the community. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* Sep 12 2012(9):CD007146.
- **96** Jahnke R, Larkey L, Rogers C, Etnier J, Lin F. A comprehensive review of health benefits of qigong and tai chi. *Am J Health Promot.* Jul-Aug 2010;24(6):e1-e25.
- **97** Li F. Transforming traditional Tai Ji Quan techniques into integrative movement therapy-Tai Ji Quan: Moving for Better Balance. *J Sport Health Sci.* Mar 1 2014;3(1):9-15.
- **98** Li F, Harmer P. Economic Evaluation of a Tai Ji Quan Intervention to Reduce Falls in People With Parkinson Disease, Oregon, 2008-2011. *Prev Chronic Dis.* Jul 30 2015;12:E120.
- **99** Li F, Harmer P, Fitzgerald K, et al. Tai chi and postural stability in patients with Parkinson's disease. *N Engl J Med.* Feb 9 2012;366(6):511-519.
- **100** Fink D, Houston K. Implementing an evidence-based Tai Ji Quan program in a multicultural setting: A pilot dissemination project. *Journal of Sport and Health Science*. 2014;3(1):27-31.
- 101 Li F, Harmer P, Eckstrom E, et al. Cost-Effectiveness of a Therapeutic Tai Ji Quan Fall Prevention Intervention for Older Adults at High Risk of Falling. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. Aug 16 2019;74(9):1504-1510.
- 102 Li F, Harmer P, Fitzgerald K, et al. Effectiveness of a Therapeutic Tai Ji Quan Intervention vs a Multimodal Exercise Intervention to Prevent Falls Among Older Adults at High Risk of Falling: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Intern Med. Oct 1 2018;178(10):1301-1310.



- **103** Stevens JA, Voukelatos A, Ehrenreich H. Preventing falls with Tai Ji Quan: A public health perspective. *J Sport Health Sci.* Mar 2014;3(1):21-26.
- **104** Clemson L, Cumming RG, Kendig H, Swann M, Heard R, Taylor K. The effectiveness of a community-based program for reducing the incidence of falls in the elderly: a randomized trial. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* Sep 2004;52(9):1487-1494.
- **105** Guse CE, Peterson DJ, Christiansen AL, Mahoney J, Laud P, Layde PM. Translating a Fall Prevention Intervention Into Practice: A Randomized Community Trial. *Am J Public Health.* Jul 2015;105(7):1475-1481.
- **106** Ory MG, Smith ML, Jiang L, et al. Fall prevention in community settings: results from implementing stepping on in three States. *Front Public Health.* 2014;2:232.
- **107** York SC, Shumway-Cook A, Silver IF, Morrison AC. A translational research evaluation of the Stay Active and Independent for Life (SAIL) community-based fall prevention exercise and education program. *Health Promot Pract.* Nov 2011;12(6):832-839.
- **108** Greene J, Hibbard JH. Why does patient activation matter? An examination of the relationships between patient activation and health-related outcomes. *J Gen Intern Med.* May 2012;27(5):520-526.
- 109 Hibbard JH, Greene J. What the evidence shows about patient activation: better health outcomes and care experiences; fewer data on costs. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. Feb 2013;32(2):207-214.
- Hibbard JH, Greene J, Overton V. Patients with lower activation associated with higher costs; delivery systems should know their patients' 'scores'. *Health Aff (Millwood)*.
 Feb 2013;32(2):216-222.
- 111 Hoffman GJ, Hays RD, Shapiro MF, Wallace SP, Ettner SL. Claims-based Identification Methods and the Cost of Fall-related Injuries Among US Older Adults. *Med Care.* Jul 2016;54(7):664-671.
- **112** Garcia PA, Dias JM, Silva SL, Dias RC. Prospective monitoring and self-report of previous falls among older women at high risk of falls and fractures: a study of comparison and agreement. *Braz J Phys Ther.* May-Jun 2015;19(3):218-226.
- **113** Ritchey K, Olney A, Chen S, Phelan EA. STEADI Self-Report Measures Independently Predict Fall Risk. *Gerontol Geriatr Med.* Jan-Dec 2022;8:23337214221079222.
- **114** Park SH. Tools for assessing fall risk in the elderly: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Aging Clin Exp Res.* Jan 2018;30(1):1-16.
- **115** Wang L, Song P, Cheng C, et al. The Added Value of Combined Timed Up and Go Test, Walking Speed, and Grip Strength on Predicting Recurrent Falls in Chinese Community-dwelling Elderly. *Clin Interv Aging.* 2021;16:1801-1812.
- 116 Almeida LRS, Piemonte MEP, Cavalcanti HM, Canning CG, Paul SS. A Self-Reported Clinical Tool Predicts Falls in People with Parkinson's Disease. *Mov Disord Clin Pract.* Apr 2021;8(3):427-434